
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Cabinet 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU on 
Tuesday, 3 January 2023 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 12) 

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  

 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public  

 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members   

 To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers. 
 

 

6. Review of the LATCo Governance Framework  (Pages 13 - 40) 

7. Formation of the Northfleet Harbourside Steering Group  (Pages 41 - 50) 

8. Emerging Local Plan - Local Development Scheme  (Pages 51 - 84) 



9. Minutes of the meeting of the Climate Change Advisory Board held on 
Wednesday, 12 October 2022  

(Pages 85 - 92) 

10. Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday, 27 October 2022  

(Pages 93 - 
100) 

11. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held 
on Wednesday, 30 November 2022  

(Pages 101 - 
104) 

12. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

13. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

Part B  
 

Items likely to be considered in Private 
 

14. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr John Burden (Chair) 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox 

Lenny Rolles 
Lauren Sullivan 
Narinderjit Singh Thandi 
Jenny Wallace 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 



1 

Cabinet 
 

Monday, 7 November 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr John Burden (Chair)  
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)  
 
Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox  

Lenny Rolles 
Lauren Sullivan  
Narinderjit Singh Thandi  
Jenny Wallace  

 
Note: Cllrs Derek Ashenden, Ejaz Aslam, Gary Harding, Baljit Hayre, Leslie Hills, Bob Lane 

and Jordan Meade was also in attendance.  
 
Nick Brown   Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive  
Sarah Parfitt   Director (Corporate Services)  
Daniel Killian   Director (Housing)  
Jamie Izzard   Director (Communities)  
Stuart Alford   Assistant Director (Operations) 
Lisa Nyon   Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
Carlie Simmonds  Committee Services Manager (Minutes) 
 

37. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Monday 3 October 2022 were signed by the Chair. 
 

38. Declarations of Interest  
 
Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda items 6 and 16 - 
Cascades Leisure Centre as he is the Council representative on Gravesham Community 
Leisure Limited (GCLL). Cllr Mochrie-Cox agreed to leave the Chamber during consideration 
of these items as a precautionary measure. 
 

39. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members  
 
The Leader reported that he had just taken a delegated decision to agree for Legal Services 
to enter the contract ref: EN001:093744 with Kent County Council in respect of the 
installation of the first dedicated rapid electric vehicle chargers for hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles in the Borough on behalf of the Council. The decision would be 
published on the Council’s website on Tuesday 8 November 2022.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 7.11.2022 

2 

40. Cascades Leisure Centre Project Update  
 
Further to minute 11 (31.01.2022), the Cabinet was informed that Knight, Kavanagh & Page 
(KKP) was commissioned to undertake a feasibility study of the Council owned leisure 
centres, Cascades Leisure Centre and Cygnet Leisure Centre. The key focus of the study 
was to refresh the Council’s Indoor Leisure Strategy and to redefine its needs and options 
for investment in its facility portfolio.  
 
As part of the work, a new design option at Cascades Leisure Centre was developed which 
offered an attractive, cohesive facility mix giving prominence to the core family focussed 
activities, and dedicated space for health referral and consultation. A total capital cost of 
circa £33.8m was identified at the time within the feasibility study, inclusive of approximately 
£3.5m allocation for enabling works including landscaping, creation of an outdoor ‘active 
environment’ area and demolition of the existing Regan’s Bar public house. The Cabinet 
approved the proposals for a new centre and delegated authority was given to the Director 
(Communities); in consultation with the Leader, the Director (Corporate Services) (in the role 
of S151 Officer) and the Monitoring Officer, to take all necessary practical, financial and legal 
actions required; including entering into the relevant formal legal agreements required to 
engage consultant/contractor support and commence the procurement process. This also 
included evaluating and appointing the successful contractor(s), approve the design, 
commence construction and certify the acceptance of completion of works. 
 
It was recommended within the original report that the procurement was approached in a 
two-stage manner, with the procurement of consultancy services being separate from that of 
selecting a construction partner. Therefore, the Council made a single appointment of a 
Lead Consultant, through use of a Pagabo Framework Contract to Faithful & Gould. As 
Faithful & Gould were already a tier one contractor as part of the Pagabo Framework, one of 
the main benefits was that it was extremely flexible, in allowing a team to be built for the 
Council from various other consultancy firms, based on what best met the Council’s needs 
rather than anything pre-prescribed or restricted. This framework therefore allowed KKP and 
Space & Place to continue working on the project from the original feasibility phase. 
 
Once the design team was fully in place, a number of design meetings and workshops were 
organised in order to review the original feasibility study outline and consider the mix of 
facilities the new centre should provide. These were supplemented with updated operational 
information from the existing leisure centres within the Borough (particularly relevant 
following Covid-19 and the changes to patron usage and behaviours) and some early 
feedback from the public on the proposals within the original report and facility make-up that 
was publicised at the time. Through this process, the core facility requirements were 
identified as detailed in section 4.2 of the report.  
 
The environment in which a new leisure centre would be brought forward had significantly 
changed since the original feasibility study (January 2022). Construction costs had increased 
nationally by between 20-30% with both material cost and labour costs rising. In addition, 
there was a market uplift of around 15% for Passivhaus construction techniques that were 
not incorporated in the original feasibility study, albeit this would be offset by reduced utility 
expenditure when considering the whole life cost of an asset. The cost of borrowing had also 
escalated from 0.25% (January 2022) to 2.25%. Further detail on the projected costs had 
been included within the Part B report.  
 
 

Page 4



Cabinet 7.11.2022 

3 

Options modelling had indicated that from a financial perspective, the Council could seek to 
take forward the project in a manner that would incorporate the core scheme requirements 
outlined at 4.2 and target Passivhaus in terms of energy efficiency design. It was noted, 
however, that achieving viability was currently heavily reliant on achieving a reduction of 
circa. £2m on the level of borrowing required which would need to be delivered through 
securing additional external funding or reducing the overall capital cost of the project. The 
financial viability of the current proposed scheme was also significantly sensitive to any 
changes in modelling assumptions, particularly those influenced by economic conditions. 
Should these conditions change and become increasingly challenging moving forwards, it 
would negatively affect viability of the project. Further modelling on these scenarios had 
been included within the Part B report.  
 
In formulating the report and developing the preferred scheme, consideration had been 
given to the following options:- 
 

 Option One – taking a decision not to proceed with the new leisure facility at the 
Cascades Leisure site; 

 Option Two – delaying progress of the project until economic conditions become 
more stable; and 

 Option Three – progressing of the project, recognising the financial viability 
challenges and seeking to contain costs within the current estimate and increasing 
capital funding for the scheme, or identifying opportunities to reduce costs further 
where they are not significantly detrimental to the key objectives of the project. 

 
The inclusion of any proposals that would expand or enhance the core facilities, including 
the provision of a full Health Suite facility, were not considered to be financially viable within 
the current economic climate but could be considered in future phasing of provision at the 
site. Early provision of some health suite facilities poolside will be considered alongside any 
other potential changes identified through the public consultation. 
 
The Cabinet was asked to endorse the view that the Council proceeds with Option Three 
and agrees to officers progressing with the scheme, recognising the financial viability 
challenges and seeking to contain costs within the current estimate and increasing capital 
funding for the scheme, or identifying opportunities to reduce costs further where they are 
not significantly detrimental to the key objectives of the project. 
 
The financial provision made for the project in the approved Capital Programme was 
considered to be sufficient for the current financial year, with any construction activity on site 
unlikely to commence before Summer 2023. Total project costs, however, had significantly 
increased and will need to be further considered by Full Council through consideration of 
future year capital budget provisions. Any decision to proceed would be considered as a Key 
Decision, given the financial impact of the decision will exceed the £100,000 threshold. In 
accordance with Annex 1.6 of the Constitution, the Executive Leader may take a Key 
Decision.  
 
The lead consultants, through a project risk register, had identified a number of risks, the 
associated risk consequences and the various controls that were in place to mitigate these 
risks. This will be updated at regular intervals and Appendix 1 provided an indication of the 
breadth and scope that this will cover as its populated during the project’s development 
through the various RIBA stages to completion. 
 
 

Page 5



Cabinet 7.11.2022 

4 

The report outlined the following next steps:- 
 

 Consultation; 

 Planning; 

 Early Contractor Involvement (ECI); and 

 Future Management Operating Model. 
 
Members were informed that options regarding leisure development in Gravesham going 
forward also need to take account of the Lower Thames Crossing (LTC) programme, which 
may have a degree of overlap with the leisure centre construction. In this regard, the LTC 
development included the compulsory purchase of the Southern Valley Golf course. National 
Highways was negotiating a voluntary purchase of the course but in the interim the owners 
had closed it. Discussions to date had involved the potential for the acquisition of part of the 
Southern Valley site by GBC to replace the existing Council owned nine-hole par three 
course (which had also been earmarked for compulsory purchase by LTC), as part of a land 
swap arrangement. These discussions and potential agreements will help to create a second 
phase of leisure development within the area, especially with regards to outdoor team 
sports. The Council will continue its ongoing discussion with LTC representatives.  
 
As reported previously, proposals for a hub leisure facility at Ebbsfleet Garden City (if 
delivered) will also provide a potential competition standard facility for swimming and sports 
hall provision. Therefore, the future plans for the current Cygnet Leisure Centre site will need 
to be considered and agreed once it is known whether the Ebbsfleet landmark leisure facility 
will be developed, and if so, when it will be completed, along with its actual location within 
the Garden City. It should however be noted that there remains a commitment for there to be 
two municipal leisure centres in the Borough, and interim measures to support the ongoing 
operation of Cygnets were currently being considered.  
 
The Cabinet welcomed the report and agreed that the Council would need to proceed with 
caution and progression of the project was subject to achieving viability. It was 
acknowledged that there would still be a significant cost to the Council for the ongoing 
operation of Cascades, in its current form, if the Council did not to proceed with the 
redevelopment.  
 
The Cabinet agreed that it would consider the Part B report prior to making a decision.  
 
Note: Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox left the Chamber during consideration of this item. 
 

41. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2022/23 - Quarter Two  
 
Further to minute 19 (03.10.2022), the Cabinet received the second budget monitoring report 
for 2022/23 in relation to the General Fund showing the position up to 30 September 2022.  
 
The Cabinet noted the information provided on: -  
 

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2022/23, 
including projected variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; 
and 

 other key areas of financial performance that may have an impact on the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) or Financial 
Statements. 

Page 6



Cabinet 7.11.2022 

5 

 
The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) confirmed that the Council will continue to 
operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial governance and respond 
to the pressures on the Council’s finances. In addition to the regular budget monitoring 
reports, the following action was also being taken:- 
 

 all financial decisions and major acquisitions being brought to Management Team for 
discussion and approval; 

 appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;  

 monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS); 
and 

 all recruitment activity being considered and approved by Management Team. 
 
The report will be considered by the Finance and Audit Committee on 9 November 2022.  
 
The Cabinet expressed concern regarding the financial risks that the Council was currently 
facing which were out of the Council’s control and the need to deliver £4.6 million in base 
budget reductions. Members praised the work of both Members and Officers in delivering 
services and finding ingenious ways of sourcing funding and donations for example the 
Winter Light Festival, Christmas Lights and Tree etc; it was important for the Council to hold 
these events as it brings the community together, encourages footfall into the town centre 
and also supports local businesses. The Cabinet stated that the Council needed to continue 
to provide the best services possible as well as supporting those residents in the Borough 
that faced homelessness, rising prices and a general detriment to their way of living however 
acknowledged that the Council would need to make some difficult decisions in the near 
future in order to meet the budget reduction target. 
 
The Chair welcomed any ideas about areas where savings could be made from Members, 
Officers and residents of the Borough. 
 
The Cabinet was informed that the issue was not unique to Gravesham and that Councils all 
around the Country were facing the same financial pressures and impact on budget/services 
however the Council having a balanced budget in 2020 meant that it was in a better position 
than a lot of other local authorities. 
 
The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report. 
 

42. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter Two 2022/23  
 
Further to minute 20 (03.10.2022), the Cabinet received the second budget monitoring report 
for 2022/23 in relation to the Housing Revenue Account showing the position up to 30 
September 2022.  
 
The Cabinet noted the information provided on: -  
 

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2022/23, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; and   

 other key arears of financial performance that may have an effect on the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.  

 

Page 7



Cabinet 7.11.2022 

6 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) confirmed that the same robust budgetary 
control actions as detailed in the previous minute (minute 41 - General Fund Budget 
Monitoring Report 2022/23 - Quarter Two) were also being applied to the Housing Revenue 
Account and that this report would also be considered by the Finance and Audit Committee 
on 9 November 2022.  
 
The Cabinet reiterated its concern as expressed in the previous minute (41) and 
acknowledged the deterioration in the forecast outturn position at Q2 which, if left 
unmanaged, would mean that the HRA would be unable to maintain the £3m working 
balance determined necessary by the Director (Corporate Services) in her role as the S151 
Officer.  Members noted the planned action identified at paragraph 3.9.3 of the report 
intended to respond to this forecast position and bring the account to a more favourable 
position by year-end. 
 
The Cabinet highlighted that significant work and efficiency savings had been undertaken by 
the Director (Housing) and his team, for example expansion of the inhouse workforce 
resulting in a 30% saving, which unfortunately had now been masked by the financial 
pressures.  
 
The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report. 
 

43. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2022-23  
 
The Cabinet received an update against the Performance Management Framework for 
Quarter Two 2022-23 (July to September 2022). 
 
Information on performance over the period was presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data was not presented, this related either to 
those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data had not been 
submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data had been 
unable to be reported will be presented within the next available reporting cycle to Cabinet 
and relevant Cabinet Committees.  
 
Following Cabinet’s review, each Cabinet Committee will be presented with an individual 
performance report tailored to the respective portfolio. Alongside statistical content, these 
will provide more detailed qualitative updates outlining what activity the Council had 
delivered, and what will be taken, to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s objectives and 
policy commitments for the 2019-23 period. 
 
The Cabinet considered the report and highlighted the following:- 
 

 PI 13 - Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken, the Council 
continued to actively pursue anyone committing environmental crime or damaging 
the local environment however it should be noted that a significant amount of work is 
undertaken in just one case alone. The figures do not bear the full picture; and 

 PI 53 - % gender pay gap across Council staff, this was a good new story as the 
Council had made a really good effort to ensure that it had a neutral pay gap across 
Council staff. 

 
The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report. 
 
 

Page 8



Cabinet 7.11.2022 

7 

44. Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service  
 
The Cabinet was provided with a copy of the annual review that had been conducted in 
respect of the Payroll Shared Service with Medway Council in accordance with the Council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework.  
 
The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) drew Members’ attention to appendix two of the 
report which provided an update against the recommendations identified in the previous 
year’s review and the recommendations/service improvements for the coming year. The 
Cabinet was informed that the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) meets regularly with 
Medway Council officers to ensure that the recommendations/service improvements were 
being progressed.  
 
The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that the shared service arrangement 
was good value for money. 
 
The Cabinet acknowledged that Medway Council had undergone a staff restructure within 
the last 18 months however expressed concern regarding the recommendations/service 
improvements being similar to those identified in the previous year and the time being taken 
to implement those recommendations/improvements. The Cabinet particularly expressed 
concern regarding the user experience of the SelfServe4You system and that, by improving 
the system, it would benefit both Gravesham and Medway employees.  
 
The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report. 
 

45. Review of Street Cleanliness, Littering and Flytipping throughout the Borough 
 Topic Review Report  
 
The Cabinet was presented with the Street Cleanliness, Littering and Flytipping throughout 
the Borough Topic Review Report, as approved by Members of the Overview Scrutiny 
Committee.  
 
The Cabinet considered the report at Appendix Two, taking into account the three 
recommendations made by the Overview Scrutiny Committee, as detailed below:- 
 

 Introduction of a business scheme similar to Street Champions – Establish a scheme 
similar to the Street Champions programme, so assisting businesses to keep the 
road/pavement outside their business clean.  The Council would provide information, 
equipment and bags for the project; 

 Roll out the digital version of Duty of Care Training – A digital version of Duty of Care 
Training for businesses is available.  The training could be rolled out to all 
businesses across the Borough so they properly understand their responsibilities for 
waste disposal.  This should lead to a reduction in fly-tipping cases; and 

 Funding for Days of Action - The Days of Action programme is critical to identifying 
rogue waste carriers.  There is currently a funding gap of about £5,000 per Kent 
Council.  It is recommended that the Council allocates £5,000 for future years to fund 
this critical project. 

 
The Cabinet thanked the Overview Scrutiny Committee and welcomed the 
report/recommendations as it highlighted the good work being undertaken by the Assistant 
Director (Operations) and his team as significant improvements had been made to that 
service over the last few years.  

Page 9



Cabinet 7.11.2022 

8 

 
The Cabinet expressed concern regarding the funding for Days of Action as it was previously 
funded by KCC and the expectation was for it now to be funded by the Kent Resource 
Partnership Project Fund and District Councils. It was requested that the outcome of the 
programme i.e. prohibitions, vehicles being crushed etc be publicised.  
 
In relation to the introduction of a business scheme similar to Street Champions, the 
Assistant Director (Operations) advised that it would be trialled initially before being rolled 
out.  
 

Resolved that the topic review report and its recommendations be approved:- 
 

o Introduction of a business scheme similar to Street Champions; 
o Roll out the digital version of Duty of Care Training; and 
o Funding for Days of Action Programme. 

 

46. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
 Wednesday, 31 August 2022  
 
The Cabinet noted the minutes of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
Wednesday 31 August 2022. 
 

47. Minutes of meeting of Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
 Thursday, 27 October 2022  
 
The Cabinet noted the minutes of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday 27 October 2022. 
 
Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox highlighted that preventative issues had been discussed at the 
recent Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee regarding this year’s Halloween and 
Fireworks weekends. The Council’s annual fireworks display was a success and wanted to 
thank all those involved. Cllr Mochrie-Cox was aware that there had been some issues in the 
outer wards i.e. Police response and requested that these issues be raised with the Police.  
 

48. Exclusion  
 

Resolved that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that 
the public be excluded during the following item of business because it was likely in 
view of the nature of business to be transacted that, if members of the public were 
present during the item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information. 

 

49. Cascades Leisure Centre Project Update - Part B Report  
 
The Cabinet was provided with further financial information which needed to remain 
confidential at this stage. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



Cabinet 7.11.2022 

9 

 Resolved that 
 

1. the view that the Council proceeds with Option Three as set out in section 7.1 
of the report be endorsed, namely progressing with the project, recognising 
the financial viability challenges and seeking to:- 
 

 Contain costs within the current estimate; 

 Increase capital funding for the scheme; and/or 

 Identify opportunities to reduce costs further where they are not 
significantly detrimental to the key objectives of the project. 

 
2. any decision to proceed will be considered as a Key Decision taken by the 

Executive Leader in accordance with Annex 1.6 of the Constitution, 
recognising that this will have no impact on the approved Capital Programme 
for 2022/23. 
 

Note: Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox left the Chamber during consideration of this item. 
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 9.21 pm. 
 
 
The Leader advised that there had been recent feedback issues with the microphone 
system and asked Members not to tamper with the dials on the microphone units. 
Members should only need to press the large grey button on the front of the 
microphone unit to turn it on and off when speaking. The Leader asked all Members, 
including the Chairs of Committees, to relay this message. 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Classification:  Public 

Key Decision:  No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 03 January 2023 

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Chief Executive and 
Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager 

Subject: Review of the Governance Framework for Rosherville Limited 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members with the findings of a review undertaken into alternative governance 
frameworks for local authority trading companies. 
 
To present Members with proposals for amendments to the framework for the Rosherville 
group of companies which will ensure that, moving forward, the company is able to respond 
to changes within the commercial environment, whilst ensuring that the Shareholder, through 
the elected Members, has oversight of the operations of the Rosherville group of companies. 
 

Recommendations: 

Cabinet recommends to Full Council that: 

1. The governance framework surrounding the operating model for Local Authority Trading 
Companies in Gravesham is updated in line with the recommendations made within this 
report to better reflect best practice. 

2. A request is made to Rosherville Limited to amend its Articles of Association in line with 
the revised framework set out within this report. 

3. Subject to the request coming forward from the company, that delegated authority is 
given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Executive, the 
Monitoring Officer, the Section 151 Officer and the Chair of Rosherville Limited to make 
all necessary amendments to the company Articles of Association and Shareholder 
Agreement to reflect the agreed changes. 

4. Upon amending the Articles of Association and Shareholder Agreement, officers submit 
these documents to Cabinet to formally approve the changes in March 2023. 

5. The changes outlined in the report formally take effect from 1 April 2023. 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



2 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are two key pieces of legislation which allow a local 
authority to trade in the services it provides: 

 The Local Government Act 2003 which allows local authorities 
to trade in the ordinary day to day functions of the Council.  

 The Localism Act 2011 which allows local authorities to trade 
in any area (unless expressly prohibited or limited by statute). 

All companies should be supported by Articles of Association 
which Rosherville currently has in place but will need to be 
updated to reflect any changes ultimately approved by Members. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

Amending the governance framework of the Rosherville group of 
companies has no immediate financial impact on the Council. 

However, to ensure that the Articles of Association of the 
company reflect any changes approved by Council, it may be 
necessary to seek external legal advice.  This is estimated to be 
£3,500 (excluding VAT and disbursements) and will be funded 
from G020/34101. 

In addition, should recommendations relating to the recruitment of 
a specific officer with a commercial focus and independent non-
executive Directors be approved in due course, there will be costs 
associated with these posts which are to be determined. 

Corporate Plan #3 – PROGRESS 

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed 
to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled 
workforce and strong governance environment. 

Specifically, the following commitment: 

Develop an entrepreneurial culture: deliver on commercial 
opportunities to generate income and provide a social impact. 

Climate Change  There are no specific climate change implications arising from this 
report.  It is noted however that Rosherville has made a Climate 
Change commitment which is published on its website and aligns 
with that of the Shareholder. 

 
 

1. Background and Introduction to the Review 

1.1 At the meeting of Full Council on 17 December, Members approved the formation 
of a Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo) and Rosherville Limited was duly 
registered as a trading company of GBC on 07 January 2020.  

1.2 In line with the recommendations approved by Full Council, the Cabinet maintains 
overall responsibility for a number of ‘Reserved Matters’ including (but not limited 
to) the approval of the Holding Company’s business plan, appointment and 
dismissal of Directors and approval of the Articles of Association and Shareholder 
Agreements. 

Page 14



3 

1.3 In line with this agreed framework, Cabinet approved both the Shareholder 
Agreement and the Articles of Association for Rosherville Limited at its meeting on 
03 February 2020, with a subsequent minor update in February 2021, setting out 
the governance framework within which the Rosherville group of companies will 
operate. 

1.4 The Cabinet also approved the appointment of the Directors to the Rosherville 
Limited Board which consisted of three Members and two council officers.  The 
Board has played a critical role in the successful implementation of the trading 
companies to date and has provided invaluable advice and challenge to ensure all 
Rosherville entities are operating effectively. 

1.5 As the company has been operational for a number of years, it was felt that it 
would be beneficial to undertake a review of the governance arrangements in 
place with a view to ensuring that the company has the best structure in place to 
ensure it continues to grow the company and its subsidiaries (and any other new 
subsidiaries that may be commissioned). 

1.6 In undertaking the review, best practice regarding the structures of LATCos has 
been considered, along with exploring how other LATCos are structured and 
public interest and best value reports that have looked specifically at LATCo 
governance. This includes a review of the Local Partnerships document Local 
Authority Company Review Guidance which specifically looks at the process for 
reviewing trading company structures. 

 

2. Current LATCo Governance Arrangements 

2.1 Currently, the Rosherville Limited Board has five voting Directors, three councillor 
Directors (two labour and one conservative) and two officer Directors and a non-
voting Company Secretary, and is structured as follows: 

 

2.2 The Chair of the Board is also the Commercial Cabinet Portfolio Holder, and the 
other two councillors are also on the Commercial Services Cabinet Committee.  
The Commercial Services Cabinet Committee was instrumental in assisting with 
establishing the overall governance framework of Rosherville but since its 
incorporation, no longer receives papers or reports on the company. 

 

 

Cllr Lenny Rolles

Director and Chair of 
the Rosherville Board

Cllr Sarah Gow

Director

Cllr Tony Rice

Director

Jamie Izzard

Director

Lisa Nyon

Director

Michelle Batstone

Company Secretary

Page 15



4 

2.3 In addition, there are three subsidiary companies established: 

 Rosherville Servicing Limited 

 Rosherville Property Development Limited 

 Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance Limited 

The subsidiary companies are set up with three Directors, all of whom are council 
officers.  The subsidiary Boards report in to the main Rosherville Limited Board on 
a quarterly basis. 

2.4 The council has established a Shareholder Group to consider any points of 
business which are not reserved to the Cabinet. To date this has been limited with 
the sole use of the Shareholder’s Group being to consider the mid-year 
performance update report from the Rosherville Group of companies. 

 

3. Summary of review findings 

3.1 In undertaking the review of governance arrangements, a number of specific 
areas were reviewed: 

3.2 Best Practice in LATCo Structures 

3.2.1 Lawyers in Local Government produced a best practice guide entitled The 
Governance of Council Interests in Companies – Code of Practice to set 
out the best way of structuring LATCos, whilst ensuring the council and the 
company are protected. Key points within this document are: 

- The participating Local Authority should be represented on the board of 
its company; and 
The chair of the board of directors, as Council appointee, will have a 
deciding say to be exercised through means of a ‘golden vote’ 
procedure on the board. 
At the moment, the council sends a Shareholder’s Representative to 
the Board meetings, but this is not a formal position on the company 
Board. The council does not have a direct representative as Chair of 
the Board, although it is responsible for making all Director 
appointments. 

- Government Guidance suggests that officers are better placed to fulfil 
the Board Director role as they are better placed to participate directly 
in the activities of the company.  It will therefore be the norm that 
officers, not Members, will be appointed as directors. 
The Rosherville Board currently consists of officers and Members, 
whilst the subsidiary Boards are solely made up of officers of the 
council.  Whilst this is not a serious area of concern, it does go against 
the ‘norm’ as suggested by Government guidance. It is however 
recognised that Members have played a significant role in the 
establishment and successful operation of the companies to date. 

- As the holding company for the group, the Company board of directors 
will be formed of Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors 
At this stage, there are currently no independent non-executive 
directors appointed to the Board of the Holding Company. 

 

 

 

Page 16



5 

- A ‘Best Practice’ Company Structure is suggested as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2.2 In undertaking the research into Board structures, consideration was also 
given to The UK Corporate Governance Code published in July 2018.  
This Code applies to all private entities, and a number of the principles 
also apply to local authority trading companies where they are owned by 
public sector bodies.   

3.3 Reviewing existing LATCo Structures – Local Partnerships 

3.3.1 Local Partnership have produced a guide to assist local authorities in 
reviewing their existing governance structures to ensure they are fit for 
purpose. Appendix one provides a summary of the review process that has 
been undertaken by Gravesham/Rosherville against this guidance.  
Specific elements where the council/Rosherville were unable to respond 
positively were in respect of: 

- Independent non-executive directors being in place to bring an 
independent judgement to bear on matters for discussion and adding 
value to Board decisions. 

- Performance management of senior company staff/Directors against a 
range of key performance indicators (KPIs). 

3.3.2 In addition, there were a number of elements (highlighted in orange in the 
appendix) where the council/Rosherville were partly able to meet the 
requirements as per the guidance, but additional actions are required to be 
fully compliant with the best practice guidance. 

3.4 Local Authority Owned Companies: A Good Practice Guide – CIPFA 

3.4.1 In June 2022, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) published a good practice guide for the operation of local authority 
trading companies.  This guidance provides advice and suggested 
approaches for local authority trading companies, from their very inception 
to their formal operation. 

3.4.2 Appendix two provides a summary of the governance of GBC/Rosherville 
against the CIPFA guidance.  There are a number of areas for 
consideration as part of the review of the governance arrangements, 
should it be felt necessary: 

Page 17



6 

- Integrity, ethical values and the rule of law 
Consideration to be given to developing a code of conduct for Board 
Directors and the introduction of a performance appraisal process for 
all Board Directors. Consideration should also be given to a formal 
policy in relation to the management of conflicts of interest. 

- Determining Interventions 
Consideration to be given to the inclusion of key performance 
indicators for all Rosherville entities in future performance reports to 
the Shareholder. 

- Capacity, Leadership and Individuals 
Consideration to be given to the development of job descriptions for 
Board Members, particularly if independent non-executive Directors 
are to be introduced, along with a robust selection process. 

- Transparency, reporting, audit and accountability 
Consideration should be given to ensuring a formal review of the 
Shareholder Agreement is scheduled for once every three years as a 
minimum. 

3.5 Learning from others 

3.5.1 There are many local authority trading companies in the UK, all delivering 
a wide variety of services through a number of different operating models. 
A review of governance arrangements and Board structures for several 
local authorities was undertaken to inform the review process. 

3.5.2 Appendix three provides a summary of the research undertaken, which 
has helped to inform the proposals set out in this report. 

3.6 Public Interest and Best Value Report Findings 

3.6.1 There have been a number of high-profile LATCo failures, which have 
resulted in public interest reports and best value inspections being 
undertaken.   

3.6.2 Those reviewed as part of this review have related to three local 
authorities across the country; common findings across the three reviews 
are as follows: 

- The governance structures across all three authorities were unclear 
and did not allow for sufficient challenge of the company and its 
performance.  Where committees or reporting processes were in place, 
these were not followed. 

- There was a lack of monitoring of performance of the company and/or 
its subsidiaries by the Shareholder.  Rigorous and regular monitoring 
by the Shareholder is key to ensuring that the company is meeting its 
objectives and any investments made by the Council are delivering 
value for money. 

- There was a lack of understanding of risks associated with the 
companies, investments and the impact this would have on the council.  
In some cases, the type of industry being entered into was complex 
and external expertise was not sought which exacerbated the level of 
risk for the Council through lack of understanding of the market. 

 

 

Page 18



7 

- Poor governance, in one council, resulted in a company being 
dissolved by compulsory strike off by Companies House for a failure to 
comply with filing financial accounts and the assets of this company 
were transferred to the Crown. 

3.6.3 The themes above confirm that good governance is key to ensuring the 
success of the company and is overseen by the Shareholder 
Representative at the meetings who ensures the council’s interest in such 
arrangements is best maintained. 

3.7 Conclusions Drawn 

3.7.1 The review has found that generally, the governance arrangements that 
are in place are robust, albeit there are several areas where these could 
be further strengthened.  Consideration should be given to the overall 
governance structure and operating model for the company and its 
subsidiaries to ensure that it is able to continue to grow as a commercial 
entity. 

3.7.2 In addition, there is a need to consider the role of independent non-
executive directors on the company Boards. 

 

4. The role of Independent Non-executive Directors 

4.1 The current Board of Rosherville Limited does not have any independent non-
executive Board Directors; consideration to the introduction of this role has been 
given as part of the overall governance review. 

4.2 An independent non-executive director does not hold an executive job in the 
company.  They will participate in the governance and will be involved in setting 
direction and policies.  They are usually expected to contribute a wide perspective 
and to draw on contacts and experience outside the company. 

4.3 The valuable role of the independent non-executive director has been increasingly 
recognised in recent years and it is recognised by the UK Corporate Governance 
Code.  The UK Corporate Governance Code states: 

‘The Board should include a balance of executive and non-executive directors  
(including independent non-executives) such that no individual or small group of  
individuals can dominate the board’s decision taking.’’ 

4.4 There is no legal distinction between a non-executive and an executive director; 
the legal duties and responsibilities are the same for both types of Directors.  The 
Companies Act 2006 places statutory duties on both executive and non-executive 
directors. 

 

5. Proposed new governance arrangements and recommendations 

5.1 Following the outcome of the review, it is suggested that consideration be given to 
revising the structure of the Rosherville Limited Board to reflect best practice by 
removing councillors from the Board and replacing them with non-executive 
Directors and a specific Shareholder Representative at an officer level.  It is felt 
that with the current attendance of the Shareholder’s representative at all Holding 
Company Board meetings in an observational capacity discharges the latter 
element of this recommendation. 

Page 19



8 

5.2 It is recognised that the Members who are currently part of the Rosherville Limited 
Board have played a critical role in ensuring the company has been established 
with the correct governance framework in place, whilst providing challenge and 
commercial advice to the subsidiary companies.  

5.3 Removing councillors from the main Holding Company board, however, would not 
diminish the role of Members in the trading company activities.  It is considered 
that this is an opportune time to re-evaluate the role of Members on the Board and 
remove them from direct involvement in the Rosherville entities.   

5.4 Members will still have a role to play and this will be exercised through the 
formation of the Rosherville Shareholder Advisory Board.  The Advisory Board will 
ensure that the company can be held to account by the Shareholder (the council) 
with regular reporting to the Advisory Board, rather than the ad-hoc nature at the 
moment.   

5.5 Membership of the Rosherville Shareholder Advisory Board would be reviewed, 
as it would replace the current Shareholder Group; it is suggested that the 
membership of the Board include representatives from the political parties making 
up the Council.  Reporting to the council’s Finance & Audit Committee would also 
be put in place as required: 

 

This approach ensures that the Cabinet can maintain the commercial, strategic 
oversight of the company structure, whilst removing conflicts of interest for 
councillors, which have always been a concern for the Board.  

In addition, with the recent review undertaken by the Boundary Commission, 
which has resulted in a reduction of elected Members for GBC to 39, removing 
Members from the Rosherville Board will reduce the need for Members to remove 
themselves from meetings where a conflict may arise, and ensure consistency in 
membership of committees. It also frees up time of councillors to be involved in 
other council-led projects. 

5.6 To support the ongoing development of the company and the council’s 
commercial interest, consideration should be given to the recruitment of a 
specialist manager/Director, to drive forward the commercial nature of the group 
of companies.  Given the likely salary for such a post, it is anticipated that the 
Rosherville group of companies would not be in a position to fund such a post at 
this stage; however, this should be a future consideration once Rosherville is able 
to fund this post directly. 

 

 

Page 20



9 

5.7 To support the development of the Board further in the future, consideration 
should also be given to the recruitment of an independent non-executive Director 
to the Board of Rosherville Limited (the holding company). Again, it is recognised 
that the Rosherville group of companies would not be in a position to fund such a 
post at this stage, but this role should be built into the overall governance 
structure for the company so that when the company is in a position to recruit to 
this post, a proposal can be presented to Cabinet for this to take place (Cabinet 
has overall responsibility for appointment of all Directors to the company). 

5.8 In line with the recommendations already set out, should these be acceptable, a 
revised Board structure to be put in place for the Holding Company, potentially as 
follows: 

  

In reviewing/implementing the Board structure, a skills audit should be undertaken 
to ensure that the required skills are provided for across the main Board. 

5.9 To continually monitor the performance of the Board, it also suggested that: 

5.9.1 A performance management framework be introduced for the Rosherville 
group of companies which will focus on key performance indicators for 
each entity but also including performance reviews of the Directors to 
ensure they are continuing to deliver against the objectives of the 
companies. 

5.9.2 A regular review of the council/company governance arrangements is 
introduced through the council’s Internal Audit team, the results of which 
will be reported as part of the performance update to the Shareholder and 
to the Finance & Audit Committee as appropriate.  It is anticipated that this 
forms a regular part of the Internal Audit work programme to be discussed 
at the appropriate time as part of the Audit Planning process. 

The Shareholder Agreement that is in place already has a provision for 
council officers to have access to information from the company 
(paragraph 3.7): 

“…the Council and the Parent Company is given such information and 
such access to the officers, employees and premises of the Group as it 
may reasonably require for the purposes of enabling it to monitor its 
investment in the Group.” 

 

Page 21



10 

The proposed regular review by Internal Audit will ensure that the 
Shareholder’s investment into the Rosherville Group of companies is 
monitored on a regular basis, ensuring the appropriate governance 
arrangements are in place to protect the council’s interests. 

 

6. Next steps 

6.1 In line with the recommendations made within this report, should Full Council 
approve the amendments to the governance framework, Rosherville Limited will 
be requested to amend its Articles of Association in line with the revised 
framework set out within this report.   

6.2 Subject to the request coming forward from the company, that delegated authority 
is given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Executive, 
the Monitoring Officer, the Section 151 Officer and the Chair of Rosherville Limited 
to make all necessary amendments to the company Articles of Association and 
Shareholder Agreement to reflect the agreed changes.   

6.3 These revised legal agreements will be reported back to Cabinet in March 2023 
for formal approval, prior to commencement of the new arrangements from 1 April 
2023.  This is in line with the current Articles of Association which set out the 
matters that are reserved to Cabinet, which includes the approval of formal 
agreements. 

 

7. Appendices 

7.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

 Appendix one – review of performance against the Local Partnerships 
guidance for Local Authority Trading Companies. 

 Appendix two – review of performance against the CIPFA publication, Local 
Authority Owned Companies: A Good Practice Guide  

 Appendix three – summary of research undertaken in relation to other local 
authority trading companies. 

 

8. Background Documents  

8.1 The following background documents were used:  

The Governance of Council Interests in Companies – Code of Practice – 
produced by Lawyers in Local Government 

Local Authority Company Review Guidance – produced by Local Partnerships 

The UK Corporate Governance Code published in July 2018 

Local Authority Owned Companies: A Good Practice Guide – published by CIPFA 

 

Lead Officer:   Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager 

Email:    michelle.batstone@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 22

mailto:michelle.batstone@gravesham.gov.uk


11 

 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The establishment of trading companies on behalf of the Council does present 
some risk; the key mitigation is ensuring that the correct governance framework is 
in place to ensure risks are considered and mitigated wherever possible.  The 
recommendations set out in this report look to minimise the risks associated with 
trading companies to both the council, officers and Members alike. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 

Digital and website 
implications 

The company has a website established – www.roshervilleservices.co.uk – which is 
developed and kept up to date under a service level agreement with the council for 
Digital and IT Services. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications arising from 
this report. 

 

  

Page 23

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk
http://www.roshervilleservices.co.uk/


Local Partnerships – Review of Existing LATCo Structures            

- Gravesham and Rosherville Checklist 

 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

Council Governance Arrangements 

Governance Aims 

C1 There should be evidence that the council and 
senior management recognise the importance of 
establishing appropriate and proportionate 
governance arrangements for the oversight of 
entities 

The council’s Constitution clearly sets out the responsibility of the Cabinet in 
respect of Rosherville and is clearly articulated under Annex 1.4 of the 
Constitution. 

A Shareholder Agreement is in place which sets out the level of ‘control’ the 
council affords the company and those matters that are reserved to the 
Council (Council Consent Matters). 



C2 There should be evidence of a culture of challenge 
and clarity relating to the purpose, efficiency, 
effectiveness, specific objectives, and freedoms of 
the entity 

The Business Plan for the holding company, which encompasses a 
summary of the business plans or the subsidiary companies, is presented to 
the Cabinet each year where the Shareholder can review the objectives and 
priorities of the entities and challenge these accordingly.  

The company is, however, a separate entity to the Council and is given 
sufficient freedoms to operate in the most effective way. 

 

The council’s Shareholder role 

C3 There should be a clearly designated council 
shareholder role or function which is both 
understood and recognised by the council and the 
entity (and documented in terms of reference) 

The Rosherville group of companies are wholly owned by the council as the 
sole shareholder.  The council’s Constitution clearly sets out the 
responsibility of the Cabinet in respect of Rosherville and is clearly 
articulated under Annex 1.4 of the Constitution. 

The role of the council is also clearly articulated in the Shareholder’s 
Agreement that is in place. 

A performance report is taken to the Shareholder in November each year, 
followed by the business plan in March each year. 

 

P
age 24



13 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

C4 There should be clarity regarding the role of 
shareholder, with reserved matters clearly 
documented and updated as required, reflecting 
any changes made as the entity has developed, in 
a shareholder’s agreement, or as set out in the 
company’s governing articles of association 

The Shareholder Agreement clearly sets out the role of the Shareholder and 
has a specific section – Council Consent Matters – which articulates the 
specific decision that require approval by the Cabinet.   

 

C5 There should be evidence that the individual 
undertaking the shareholder role is provided with 
suitable training and support commensurate with 
the role 

Specific training regarding companies and their governance was provided to 
not only company Directors but GBC representatives when the company 
was established.  Refresher training has been arranged for June 2022. 

 

C6 There should be evidence of formal periodic 
shareholder/ Chair/CEO meetings with effective 
supporting papers to inform subsequent company 
board meetings 

A formal meeting of the Shareholder Group is held in November each year 
to review the mid-year performance report of the company.  Additional 
reports are brought to the Shareholder, via the Cabinet, as required. 

Informal meetings also take place between the shareholder representative 
at the Board, the Chair of the Board and the Leader of the Executive to 
discuss the company as required. 

 

Council oversight, scrutiny, and governance framework 

C7 There should be documented evidence of 
transparent member and officer scrutiny, oversight, 
and approval of business plans 

The business plan for Rosherville Limited is approved by Cabinet on an 
annual basis in line with the Shareholder Agreement and company Articles 
of Association.  As a formal decision by Cabinet, the item can be called in to 
the Overview Scrutiny committee, should the Scrutiny Members wish to 
review this in more detail. 

 

C8 There should be evidence of a clear set of KPIs 
that fall out of the business planning process 

There are no specific KPIs included in the Rosherville Limited business plan 
as the holding company. 

However, each of the subsidiary companies have a set of KPIs which are 
reported to the Rosherville Limited Board on a quarterly basis 

-- 

P
age 25



14 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

C9 There should be evidence that senior company 
staff are performance managed against KPIs 

At the moment, there is no formal evaluation of the Board, Directors/Chair.  

C10 There should be evidence of ongoing assessment 
of value-for-money and quality offered by the entity 
through an adequately resourced monitoring 
function 

Monitoring of the subsidiary companies takes place on a quarterly basis by 
the main Rosherville Limited Board. 

Rosherville Limited report to the Cabinet on a six-monthly basis.  The 
Business Plan is presented in March each year and a mid-year performance 
update is also presented to the Shareholder Group in November each year 
to provide the Shareholder with regular monitoring opportunities.  

 

C11 There should be ongoing assessment of risks 
relating to the entity, supported by processes to 
ensure that risks are managed as part of the 
council’s overall risk management approach, with 
appropriate escalation and reporting 

The council has a robust proves in place for reviewing risks on an annual 
basis.  Should it be felt that the commercial entities of the council were a risk 
to the council itself, this would be recorded and reported to Members in line 
with the risk management process in place. 

Risks associated with the individual subsidiary companies are first reported 
in the business case put forward to establish the company and then 
monitored through business plans.  The subsidiary business plans are 
summarised within the main Rosherville Limited Business Plan which is 
presented to the shareholder. 

 

C12 There should be evidence of a consistent approach 
across the council when it comes to engaging with 
its entities 

All of the company entities are managed in a consistent manner.  All have 
adopted the Articles of Association for the group and the same Company 
Secretary is appointed across all companies to ensure consistency.  There 
is sufficient flexibility to enable each entity to operate within the market it is 
trading to ensure it can operate with flexibility. 

 

C13 The council should have clear and unfettered 
access to audited accounts for its entities 

The Articles of Association of the group of companies clearly states that the 
council’s Designated Officers have access to all company accounts and 
information as necessary.  This includes the council’s internal audit team 
having unfettered access to the company documents should there be a 
need for them to view these. 

At the moment, the shareholder’s audit committee do not have access to the 
company accounts. 

-- 

P
age 26



15 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

Business case for the entity 

C14 It should be possible to review the business case 
which assessed the risk involved in establishing the 
entity and recommended its establishment, taking 
account of other potential delivery models 

No new business entities can be established without the consent of the 
council.  The business case template that is in place clearly sets out the 
potential risks associated with the company and will only be presented 
where it is felt the company operating model is the right approach. 

 

 

C15 Objectives of the entity should be clearly defined 
and documented, and regularly reviewed to ensure 
that its operation continues to support council 
policy and strategy, including periodically reviewing 
the business case to ensure it is still valid 

The business case includes the objectives for the new business entity, 
which are then reviewed as part of the annual review of the business plans. 

The business case itself has a section for completion which specifically 
identifies the implications for the Shareholder, so these are considered as 
part of the decision to create the new entity. 

 

 

Agreements with the entity 

C16 Agreements should be documented between the 
council and the entity for any support or services 
provided by either party to the other party 

Formal service level agreements are in place between the council and 
Rosherville setting out the support services that will be provided and the 
recharge basis for these services.  These are reviewed on annual basis by 
the Chair of Rosherville Limited and the shareholder representative.  A 
separate works order is to be agreed for any works outside of the scope of 
the SLA. 

The formal SLA sets out an escalation process should there be any issues 
that require resolution. 

 

 

C17 All agreements should be clear, up-to-date, and 
regularly monitored and reviewed, with any 
changes to agreements documented so that a clear 
audit trail exists 

As above, the SLAs are reviewed on an annual basis. 

Each new version is dated and reference as a new version to ensure a clear 
audit trail of change is held. 

 

 

P
age 27



16 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

Avoiding and managing conflicts of interest  

C18 There should be evidence that a culture exists 
whereby actual or potential conflicts of interests are 
identified, declared, and acted upon, including 
evidence of appropriate training across the 
organisation 

Training has been provided to all current Directors of Rosherville and its 
subsidiaries and additional training is scheduled for June 2022 as a 
refresher training but also to provide training to new Directors. 

In addition, all agendas have a standing item to enable declarations of 
interest to be made and recorded accordingly. 

 

 

C19 The council should have clear and up-to-date 
policies and processes to consistently manage 
actual conflicts or potential conflicts of interest, 
including a clear process for investigations and 
procedures for appropriate disciplinary actions in 
the event of breaches 

The Articles of Association for the company clearly articulate how conflicts 
of interest are to be dealt with and include a process by which the 
Shareholder can authorise these moving forward. 

There is a need to more clearly set out the process for investigating 
concerns and appropriate action in the event of a breach. 

 

-- 

C20 The roles, responsibilities and reporting lines of 
officers and members who are involved in council 
oversight of the entities, the provision of services 
between the entities or the running of the entities 
should be clearly defined and documented 

The formal agreements in place stipulate who are the ‘Designated officers’ 
of the company and who is able to speak in respect of company affairs.  
Officers who undertake the Director role attend council Management Team 
meetings as necessary, as well as Cabinet and Scrutiny meetings where it 
is required. 

 

 

Council appointments to the board 

C21 There should be evidence that appointments to the 
board are subject to a documented formal, 
rigorous, and transparent procedure based on merit 
and published objective criteria which also promote 
diversity 

Declaration forms have been completed by all Directors.  All of the 
appointments to the Board are specific to a post rather than individual 
officers and is written into officer job descriptions accordingly.  It is clearly 
set out within the company agreements that when a Director ceases to be 
employed by the council or an elected Member, their company role ceases.  
All appointments to the company are reserved to the Shareholder. 

 

P
age 28



17 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

Entity Governance Arrangements 

Articles of Association 

E1 The entity’s articles of association should be clear, 
up-to-date, and reflective of how the entity is run 

The Articles of Association were originally drafted by Trowers & Hamlins.  
They were updated in February 2021 to reflect changes to the Board 
structure and updated on Companies House accordingly. 

 

Business Planning  

E2 There should be evidence of an up-to-date 
business plan that is reflective of the current 
circumstances and environment in which the entity 
operates 

The business plans for Rosherville Limited and its subsidiaries are updated 
on an annual basis.  The subsidiary business plans are signed off by the 
Rosherville Limited Board and the main holding company business plan is 
approved by the Shareholder as per the agreements in place. 

 

Role and behaviours of the board 

E3 There should be evidence that the board meets 
regularly to consider, review and record 
discussions and conclusions 

The Board of the subsidiary companies and Rosherville Limited meet on at 
least a quarterly basis, with additional meetings arranged as necessary.  
The meetings are documented and a formal register of minutes for each 
entity held by the Company Secretary. 

 

E4 There should be evidence of delivery of strategies 
and plans, including scrutinising key operational 
and finance performance information 

The Board of the holding company meet regularly to challenge the 
performance of the subsidiary companies accordingly and provides 
commercial challenge to the entities in line with their duties under the 
Companies Act. 

At this stage, there is no specific delegation for scrutiny.  One of the 
company Directors leads on financial management of the company and 
reports to the Board accordingly. 

 

P
age 29



18 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

E5 There should be evidence of the desired culture 
and behaviours 

The minutes of the Board meeting demonstrate clear challenge of h 
subsidiary companies by the Holding Company Directors, to ensure the 
success of the company is promoted and that risks are assessed as a 
collective. 

The Board receive regular performance reports from each subsidiary to 
monitor performance as well as budget, as well as regular monitoring 
reports on its own budget.  

Clear leadership in terms of company objectives, such as modern slavery, is 
provided by the main Board. 

 

E6 The company structures should be regularly 
scrutinised in order to ensure they remain fit for 
purpose 

The company was established in January 2020.  The purpose of the current 
review is to look at the current structures that are in place to ensure they are 
robust given the current direction of the company. 

-- 

E7 There should be evidence that the board has clear 
policies and procedures for its members to ensure 
that actual or potential conflicts of interests are 
identified, declared, and acted upon 

All agendas for the Board meetings for the Holding companies and 
subsidiaries have a standing item ensuring all Directors have the opportunity 
to declare interests as appropriate which are duly minuted.  A register of 
interests is maintained by the Company Secretary as necessary. 

 

E8 There should be evidence that directors have 
sufficient skills and experience to run the entity 

All Directors have received training in respect of their duties under the 
Companies Act and code of conduct.  Those Directors on the Board have a 
background in specific skills such as finance, commercial perspective, 
marketing and community involvement which support the work of the Board 
and the group of companies. Subsidiary company Boards are made up of 
service specialists as well as a non-specialist, ‘critical friend’ Director to 
provide a broader perspective. 

 

E9 There should be evidence that directors’ 
behaviours are aligned with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and the Nolan Principles as 
well as Cabinet Office’s Code of Conduct for Board 
Members of Public Bodies 

All Directors have received training in respect of their duties under the 
Companies Act and code of conduct.  The Company Secretary attends all 
meetings of the holding company to provide advice and guidance to Board 
Members as necessary in terms of meeting their obligations. 

 

P
age 30



19 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

E10 The scope of directors’ authorities should be 
documented and clear to all parties 

The Board operates within a scheme of delegation from the Shareholder.  
There are a number of specific matters which are reserved for the 
Shareholder but outside of these, the company is allowed to operate within 
its own powers, having due regard to the Shareholder. 

 

 

 

Company board composition 

E11 There should be evidence that the board has a 
diverse membership with the collective skills and 
attributes needed to lead the entity effectively 

 

The Holding company board is made up of five Directors. However, there 
are no non-executive Directors currently on the Board. 

 

E12 There should be evidence that board membership 
is reviewed regularly for composition and fitness for 
purpose 

The company was established in January 2020.  The purpose of the current 
review is to look at the current structures that are in place to ensure they are 
robust given the current direction of the company. 

 

-- 

The board and risk management 

E13 There should be evidence that the board 
understands the organisation’s risk profile and the 
effectiveness of key controls and regularly reviews 
risks and risk appetite 

Risks associated with the companies are first reported in the business case 
put forward to establish the company and then monitored through business 
plans.  The holding company monitors the risks associated with the 
subsidiary companies through the quarterly reporting process but also 
through the annual review of the business plan.  Decisions by the Board are 
based upon a number of issues including the associated risks. 

The risks associated with the holding company are summarised as part of 
the annual business plan which is reported to the Shareholder as 
necessary. 

 

 

P
age 31



20 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

Board members’ skills and development 

E14 There should be documented evidence that the 
board regularly undertakes a skills audit to ensure 
that it has an appropriate balance of skills and 
experience 

There is no specific skills audit undertaken.  However when establishing the 
holding company and the subsidiary companies, consideration was given to 
the requirements of each individual company.   

As part of this review, there is a need to consider the skills sets required in 
any new structure. 

 

-- 

E15 There should be evidence of ongoing professional 
training provided to ensure that all board members 
are up to date in their understanding and supported 
in their roles 

 

Specific training regarding companies and their governance was provided to 
not only company Directors but GBC representatives when the company 
was established.  Refresher training has been arranged for June 2022. 

 

The role of executive directors and non-executive directors 

E16 There is evidence that the role of executive 
directors is clearly defined and documented 

The Articles of Association for the company, clearly sets out the powers and 
responsibilities for the Directors of the companies, including powers of 
delegation, decision making and required participation amongst other things. 

 

 

E17 Non-executive directors are in place to bring an 
independent judgement to bear on issues of 
subject matter expertise, strategy, performance, 
resources including key appointments, and 
standards of conduct 

There are currently no independent Non-executive Directors on the Board 
of Rosherville Limited and/or its subsidiaries. 



E18 There is documented evidence that the board 
values the role of non-executive directors, and their 
views are influential in the board’s decisions 

 

There are currently no independent Non-executive Directors on the Board 
of Rosherville Limited and/or its subsidiaries. 



P
age 32



21 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

The role of the board chair 

E19 There is evidence that the chair provides clear 
board leadership, supporting the directors and chief 
executive and taking account of the shareholders 
views 

The Chair provides clear support and direction both at the formal Board 
meetings and informally outside of the Board meetings.  All Board members 
are encouraged to participate in all discussions and to provide their thoughts 
and view to ensure a wide variety of views are sought.  Regular liaison with 
eh Company Secretary ensures Board meetings cover all required items. 

The Chair has a full understanding of the requirements of the Shareholder 
and ensures these are articulated at Board meetings to ensure all Directors 
are aware of what is require by the Shareholder.   

 

Financial management 

E20 There should be a fully documented and approved 
business plan that is consistent with and no more 
than 12 months older than the previous business 
plan. The changes within the updated business 
plan should accord with the trajectories that are 
apparent from monthly financial and non-financial 
performance reports 

The business plans for Rosherville Limited and its subsidiaries are updated 
on an annual basis.  The subsidiary business plans are signed off by the 
Rosherville Limited Board and the main holding company business plan is 
approved by the Shareholder as per the agreements in place. 

 

E21 The financial transactions and values attributable to 
the company within the council’s medium term 
financial plan should agree with the projections in 
the business plan 

Regular financial monitoring of the company’s finances takes place 
(including the subsidiaries).  This is included in the performance reports to 
the council. 

The financial arrangements feed into the council’s financial plans, 
specifically in terms of income due from the service level agreements and 
future loan repayments in relation to the Property development company. 

 

E22 Board reports should include clear presentation of 
the monthly income and expenditure position of the 
company as well as a cash flow statement and 
balance sheet 

Financial updates are provided to the Board (and the subsidiary Boards) on 
a quarterly basis which cover cash flow and an overall balance sheet. 

 

P
age 33



22 

 Local Partnerships Suggested Evidence Current Position/Evidence /

E23 There should be evidence of an annual audit letter 
from the council’s external auditors, confirming the 
degree of confidence they hold in respect of 
consolidation or treatment of financial instruments 
entered by the company 

At the time of the review, the latest annual audit letter (audit findings report) 
provided by the external auditor is for the period 2018-19 and therefore does 
not cover the period for which the company was established. 

-- 

E24 Documented financial policies and procedures 
should be available 

Each company has a separate bank account, separate from the council 
accounts and managed through the Quickbooks system i.e., not a council 
system.  Signatories are specific to each company. 

The formal agreements set out the financial requirements of the company, 
with specific legal agreement sin place for individual loan arrangements in 
place as necessary. 

In addition, the company has agreed its own financial authorisation levels to 
ensure efficient and effective payment of invoices. 

 

E25 There should be evidence of an effective annual 
internal audit programme 

There is no specific programme of internal audits.  However, an internal 
audit of the governance arrangements of the Shareholder with the company 
was undertaken in 2021 which identified a number of recommendations to 
further strengthen the arrangements in place for the company and between 
the company and the Shareholder.  This will form part of the review 
programmes as necessary. 

External auditors are engaged on an annual basis to undertake the formal 
audit of accounts as required. 

-- 

 

  

P
age 34



Local Authority Owned Companies: A Good Practice Guide - CIPFA           

- Gravesham and Rosherville Checklist 

 

Alignment with good governance principles Application in GBC/Rosherville 

Integrity, ethical values and the rule of law Currently, all Directors of the company are either Councillors of Employees of Gravesham 
Borough Council and as such, act within the code of conduct for Members and Officers. 
However, it may be necessary to consider a specific ‘company code should the Board 
membership expand to include independent, non-executive directors on the Board. 

Performance appraisals of council officers are undertaken as part of their employment of the 
council, but these focus on GBC activities.  There are currently no specific performance 
appraisals for the Directors on the Board. 

Declarations of interest are made, as necessary, at the start of all Board meetings and are 
recorded by the Company Secretary.  All Directors have received training specifically regarding 
their role and the Companies Act requirements and as such, are aware of their duties to the 
company. 

The company’s Articles of Association reference the consideration of conflicts of interest but 
there is not a specific policy in place to manage these.  This is something that could be 
considered moving forward. 

Openness and Stakeholder Engagement The current Shareholder Group that is in place consists of Members (including the Leader of the 
Opposition and Chair of the Overview Scrutiny Committee) along with key officers from around 
the council.  The Overview Scrutiny Committee can ‘call on’ decisions by the Cabinet in relation 
to the Rosherville group of companies and have exercised this right in the past. 

The decision-making process of the company is very clearly set out in the Articles of Association 
for the company.  The Company Secretary records all decisions and maintains a record of 
decisions that have been delegated to other Board Members.  Where specific professional 
advice has been received, this is minuted accordingly. 

The company has a website which provides details on the services that are being provided by 
the Rosherville group of companies and enables engagement with stakeholders.  The council 
has also publicised the Rosherville entity through its Your Borough magazine which goes to all 
households. 

P
age 35



24 

Alignment with good governance principles Application in GBC/Rosherville 

Defining Outcomes In defining the outcomes of the companies, the business case for each new entity must be 
signed off by the Shareholder before the company can be incorporated.  The business case 
clearly sets out the purpose for the company and its long-term plans. As well as its contribution 
to the objectives of the Council as a whole A business plan is prepared each year which, for the 
subsidiary companies is approved by the Holding Company.  The business plan for the Holding 
Company, which encapsulates the key information from the subsidiary companies is presented 
to the Shareholder for review and approval. 

Determining Interventions The council, as Shareholder, receives a mid-year update on the performance of all the entities 
that it is involved in and as such, is able to monitor the outcomes of the companies as 
necessary.  At this stage, there are no key performance indicators included as part of these 
reports which could be consideration for future performance reports. 

Capacity, Leadership and Individuals The company has Articles of Association in place which are based upon the model articles 
suggested for use by Companies House but have been tailored to meet the needs of the 
company and the Shareholder.  These clearly set out the mechanisms for the governance of the 
company including conducting Board meetings (including quorum details), appointment and 
termination of Directors and financial management. 

Training was provided to all Directors when Rosherville Limited and the two first subsidiaries 
were introduced.  Refresher training has also taken place so that all Directors have received 
training regarding their roles on local authority trading company.  The training packs provided 
also form the basis for additional sessions that may be required should new Directors be 
brought into the company structure. 

An appointment process should be in place for all new Directors.  As the Shareholder appoints 
all Directors, this is undertaken as part of the recruitment process for the council employees. 
However, should non-executive Directors be introduced to the Board, there is a need to ensure 
a robust selection process is in place. 

P
age 36



25 

Alignment with good governance principles Application in GBC/Rosherville 

Managing risks, performance, internal control 
and strong financial management 

Risks are considered for each entity at the time at which they are established and then reviewed 
on a regular basis.  Each entity brings performance updates to the main Rosherville Board 
where risks are monitored, and these are reviewed as part of the annual business planning 
process.  There is a shareholder representative at each Board meeting and any serious risk 
concerns can be discussed and raised as necessary with the Shareholder. 

Finance is managed through a service level agreement with the Shareholder.  The council’s 
Finance Team provides financial management through provision of budget monitoring reports, 
advice and guidance as necessary and preparation of final year accounts for audit.  Where 
speciality advice is needed by the company, this is sourced as necessary. The company also 
has a Board Director with financial expertise. 

As mentioned, the Board receive quarterly reports from each of the subsidiaries to ensure 
performance is monitored accordingly.  The Board can c al, additional meetings should there be 
a need to do so.  The company provides the Shareholder with a mid-year report in 
October/November each year which provides an update on performance, risk and budget. All 
subsidiaries and the main holding company also update their business plans on an annual basis 
with approval of these by the Holding company/Shareholder respectively. 

Transparency, reporting, audit and 
accountability 

Reference is made to the company structure within the Annual Governance Statement.  Specific 
reference is made to the governance structures in place and in the 2021-22 statement, 
reference is made to the review of governance structures that is currently underway. 

There is a formal Shareholder Agreement in place which was agreed in February 2020.  A 
formal date for the review of the Shareholder Agreement has not been set.  It is anticipated that 
this will be reviewed once every three years (in line with current Shareholder review processes) 
or when necessity arises. 

The Rosherville Board provide a mid-year performance update to the Shareholder, along with a 
Business Plan which is reviewed every year.  The Business Plan looks back at achievements in 
the previous year across the group of Rosherville companies as well as setting out the forward 
plan 

 

P
age 37



Appendix Three 

 

Review of other Local Authority Trading Companies 

Ashford Borough Council 

Up until recently, the Board of the council’s Property Companies was made up of four 
Directors; the Leader of the Council, the Chief Executive, the Deputy S151 Officer and an 
independent, non-executive Director.  This was reviewed and the Leader of the Council was 
removed from the Board and a further non-executive director was recruited to the Board.  All 
Board members are of a significant level of seniority within the council. 

The council has in place a Trading and Enterprise Board which has been established with 
delegated authority to carry out a number of specific functions on behalf of the Cabinet 
specifically in relation to the trading companies of the Council.  The Board is made up of four 
councillors all of whom are portfolio holders.  Four meetings of the TEB are held each year 
(May, June, September and February). 

The company employs one member of staff directly.  This is the Commercial Development 
Manager whose specific role is to drive forward the growth of the Property Company.  The 
focus of the role is very narrow, looking at the development side of the business and 
ensuring projects get ‘off the ground’.  This person is managed by the Deputy S151 officer at 
the council but is paid directly by the company.  The Commercial Development Manager is 
paid directly by the company, from the profits that are generated through the developments 
that are progressed. 

 

Wiltshire Council 

In 2021, Wiltshire Council commissioned a review into the governance arrangements of its 
group of companies, Stone Circle, as commissioned by the Cabinet.  The review produced a 
number of recommendations but specifically: 

 Create a Shareholder Group as a sub-Committee of Cabinet with the Leader as Chair 
with two other Cabinet Members as members with the option to co-opt external 
commercial expertise to enable the Shareholder Group (after consideration of 
performance reporting by Corporate Leadership Team and Scrutiny) to conduct its role 
on behalf of the shareholder. 

 Review the appointments to the Board. It was felt that now is the time to focus on 
delivery and therefore the current appointments, although assisting in set-up and initial 
trading activity, should be amended over a 12-month transitional period. This should 
include replacing the elected Members on the company Boards; with the advent of the 
Shareholder Group which will carry out a scrutiny and challenge function, expanding the 
membership of non-executive appointments with specific housing sector commercial 
experience and increasing the general non-executive membership to the Housing and 
Development companies by two. The Director of Housing and Commercial Development 
also be appointed to the companies. 

 Request the company to develop and implement an appropriate staffing structure for the 
companies, to oversee the operations and to drive commercial delivery at pace. This 
structure could be resourced incrementally and phased against specific trading data. 
Specifically looking for the company to employ someone with commercial expertise to 
drive the company forward. 

 Annual presentation of governance arrangements to the Audit & Governance Committee. 

The recommendations suggested, follows best practice with the removal of councillors from 
the Board and the creation of a Shareholder Group as a sub-committee of Cabinet to 
oversee the company.  In addition, the revised governance model (shown below) also 
includes reporting to the Audit & Governance Committee of the Council to ensure that 
consideration is given on a regular basis to the appropriateness of the arrangements the 

Page 38



27 

company has in place.  This has resulted from the review into the failings of other LATCos 
across the country. 

 

 

East Suffolk Council 

East Suffolk Council is launching a new local authority trading and are currently (February 
2022) recruiting to a role of Managing Director to head up the company and are using Tile-
Hill Executive Recruitment in the process.  The focus of the company is effective waste 
collection and a high standard of maintenance of public spaces.  The council sees the 
company as an integral part of the council’s long-term strategy to support growth of the local 
economy, exceed expectations of residents and businesses and address the climate 
emergency. 

The Managing Director will be required to shape the new company to deliver against its 
business plan and key strategic priorities including the successful transition to a new delivery 
model, maintaining and improving service delivery and increasing income generation across 
the company’s portfolio of services.  

The detailed outline for the role can be found here - 
(https://static1.squarespace.com/static/61d425957ad9413a15ba5c3d/t/61f959a3a360c33d5
dcfd6b4/1643731374834/Tile+Hill_East+Suffolk+LATCo_MD_Applicant+Information_01.02.2
2_Final.pdf) 

The company is due to be launched in July 2023 and as such, this post will be employed by 
East Suffolk Council directly. 

 

Surrey County Council 

Twelve15 is a trading department of Surrey County Council, delivering traded services in 
education and other settings. 

In December 2021, Surrey County Council advertised for a Head of Commercial with the 
specific responsibility for the entirety of the commercial performance driving success in 
retention and growth.  This is a full-time position (36 hours per week) with a salary of 
£71,252 per annum.  The role sits on the Senior Leadership Team of the council.  

Specifically, this role is responsible for: 

1. Being responsible for business development to maximise income generation within 
existing and new business opportunities; 

2. Act to acquire new clients and management of client relationships (new and existing) to 
ensure opportunities for growth and efficiencies are seized as appropriate; 

3. Understanding market sector, capture industry intelligence & validate the requirements of 
existing clients & customers to develop and implement business & marketing planning 
strategies; 

4. Lead the development and implementation of communication strategies to accelerate 
market share & presence; 

5. Monitoring performance of commercial activities using key metrics & providing regular 
reports to Twelve15 Leadership Team & other stakeholders. 

 

 

 

 

Page 39

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/61d425957ad9413a15ba5c3d/t/61f959a3a360c33d5dcfd6b4/1643731374834/Tile+Hill_East+Suffolk+LATCo_MD_Applicant+Information_01.02.22_Final.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/61d425957ad9413a15ba5c3d/t/61f959a3a360c33d5dcfd6b4/1643731374834/Tile+Hill_East+Suffolk+LATCo_MD_Applicant+Information_01.02.22_Final.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/61d425957ad9413a15ba5c3d/t/61f959a3a360c33d5dcfd6b4/1643731374834/Tile+Hill_East+Suffolk+LATCo_MD_Applicant+Information_01.02.22_Final.pdf


28 

Rugby Borough Council 

Rugby Borough Council is currently recruiting to the position of Chief Officer for Operations 
and Traded Services who will form part of the council’s Senior Management Team (closing 
date 28 February 2022).  The salary range for the post is £55,000-£65,000.  The purpose of 
the role is to take forward the council’s operational and traded services, and to maximise the 
commercial and traded opportunities which they present.  In addition, the post will also be 
responsible for identifying and implementing new models of delivery, which maximise traded 
/ commercial opportunities and deliver financial efficiency.  A copy of the details job 
description has been saved for future reference if required. 

 

 
 

Page 40



 

Classification:  Public 

Key Decision:  No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 03 January 2023 

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Chief Executive 

Subject: Formation of the Northfleet Harbourside Steering Group 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To set out the proposed formation of the Northfleet Harbourside Steering Group for Cabinet 
approval. 

Recommendations: 

Members are requested to: 

1. Approve the formation of the Northfleet Harbourside Steering Group as set out in this 
report, alongside the draft Terms of Reference attached at appendix one. 

2. Identify the two GBC councillors to be representatives on the Steering Group. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no specific legal requirements associated with this 
report.  

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There will be no requirement for the council to make any financial 
contribution to the Steering Group.  Should there be a need for 
specific funding in the future, a report will be provided to the 
council’s Cabinet to approve payment, subject to an adequate 
business case being provided (should funding directly from the 
Council be required). 

It will be the responsibility of the developer to underwrite all of the 
costs associated with any Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) 
proceedings, should they be required.  

Page 41 Agenda Item 7



2 

Corporate Plan The Northfleet harbourside project contributes to the following 
Corporate Plan objective: 

#1 – People 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home. 

#2 – Place 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local 
economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its 
strong and active community. 

Climate Change  There are no specific climate change implications resulting from 
this report.  However, it is anticipated that the development itself 
will include specific measures to combat climate change and 
these will be monitored throughout the progression of the project 
by the Steering Group. 

 
 

1. Background 

1.1 The proposed Northfleet Harbourside project aims to provide a new 
neighbourhood with Ebbsfleet United Football Club at its heart.  The vision for the 
project is to design a new and vibrant neighbourhood with new homes, shops, 
cafes, offices, medical services and community venues.  This will also include 
over 3kms of new pedestrian and cycle links through the community and along the 
River Thames improving connectivity to Gravesham town centre, and publicly 
accessible green spaces across the site. 

1.2 The scheme aims to deliver: 

- A new, multi-purpose 8,000 capacity stadium with improved facilities and 
function space, securing the long-term future of Ebbsfleet Football Club. 

- 3,000 new jobs for the local area and incubator spaces for start-ups 

- Green zones, including parklands, green spaces and children’s play areas with 
new pedestrian and cycle links. 

- New shops, restaurants bars and cafes covering a 225,000sq ft area. 

- A new retail village and 200-bed hotel. 

- 3,500 new homes. 

1.3 The planning application for the development site was submitted to the council in 
October 2022 and validated in November 2022.  Following a response from 
National Highways, they have recommended that the planning permission not be 
granted for a period of 3 months, expiring on 06 March 2023, to allow time for the 
applicant to provide additional information that has been requested by National 
Highways.  As such, it is currently anticipated that the application will be 
presented to the Planning Committee early in the new financial year. 

1.4 The project is being delivered in partnership between Landmarque Property 
Group and Ebbsfleet United FC and it is proposed that Gravesham Borough 
Council become an advisory partner in the project as a whole. 

 

Page 42



3 

2. Northfleet Harbourside Steering Group 

2.1 It is proposed that a Steering Group be established, involving representatives from 
Gravesham Borough Council, Landmarque Property Group and/or Ebbsfleet 
United FC in order to ensure that the council is actively involved in the project, 
should it receive the required permissions, and can ensure that local views are 
reflected within the development, should it progress, as necessary. 

2.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the creation of this Steering Group should in no way 
be seen as a pre-determination of the planning application which will go through 
the normal consideration processes. 

2.3 The purpose of the Steering Group will be to: 

- Ensure all interested parties are kept abreast of the progress of the 
development (regular updates to be provided to the Steering Group by 
Landmarque Property Group). 

- To ensure any possible issues which may affect the progression of the 
development are identified at an early stage to enable proactive discussions to 
take place to move the project forward as necessary, should planning 
permission be secured.  This may include recommendations to the Cabinet in 
respect of the use of local authority statutory powers included, but not limited 
to, Compulsory Purchase Order (CPOs), to facilitate the development moving 
forward. It should be noted that the Developer will be responsible for under 
writing all costs associated with any CPO process. 

2.4 The Steering Group will be formed as follows: 

- Two Councillor representatives from the council, one of whom will be 
nominated as Chair of the Steering Group. 

- Two representatives from the developer (Landmarque Property Group and/or 
Ebbsfleet United FC – development partners). 

- Associate members may be co-opted to the Steering Group during the project 
as necessary, such as representatives from Homes England, Environment 
Agency etc. 

Council officers may also attend to provide support to the Steering Group where 
this is considered necessary. Additional representatives may be asked to attend 
the Steering Group as required, with the express permission of the council’s 
Cabinet. 

2.5 The Steering Group will have no decision-making powers in its own right. If 
necessary, a report will be provided to the council’s Cabinet (or other relevant, 
constituted committee as necessary) for any formal decisions that need to be 
made. 

2.6 The draft Terms of Reference for the proposed Steering Group are attached at 
appendix one to this report for Member review and, subject to any agreed 
amendments, formal approval. 

 

3. Next steps 

3.1 Subject to approval by Cabinet of the formation of the Steering Group and the 
appended Terms of Reference, Cabinet will be asked to nominate two 
representatives from GBC to become members of the Steering Group. 

Page 43



4 

3.2 Meetings will be established at a frequency as is deemed necessary and minutes 
of the meetings will be maintained by a suitable officer from the council, providing 
appropriate secretarial support as necessary. 

3.3 Updates will be provided at formal meetings of the Cabinet as necessary. 

4. Appendices 

4.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

 Appendix One - Northfleet Harbourside Steering Group DRAFT Terms of 
Reference 

 

5. Background Documents  

5.1 There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:   Stuart Bobby, Chief Executive 

Email:    stuart.bobby@gravesham.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 44

mailto:stuart.bobby@gravesham.gov.uk


5 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The Northfleet harbourside project presents an opportunity to regenerate a 
significant part of the Northfleet area.  The formation of a Steering Group will 
support the development and minimise the risks of delays to the development 
process. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report. 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no digital and website implications resulting from this report. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report. 

 

  

Page 45

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6 

 

Northfleet Harbourside Steering Group 

Terms of Reference 

 

Project Background 

Northfleet Harbourside is a new neighbourhood with Ebbsfleet United Football Club at its 
heart, being delivered in partnership between Landmarque Property Group and Ebbsfleet 
United FC. 

The vision for the project is to design a new and vibrant neighbourhood with new homes, 
shops, cafes, offices, medical services and community venues.  This will also include over 
3kms of new pedestrian and cycle links through the community and along the River Thames 
improving connectivity to Gravesham town centre, and publicly accessible green spaces 
across the site. 

The project will regenerate low-skilled industrial land into a revitalised area, improving the 
Northfleet Harbourside area. 

 

Project Objectives (inc. timeframes) 

Subject to approval of the planning application for the development, the scheme aims to 
deliver: 

 A new, multi-purpose 8,000 capacity stadium with improved facilities and function space, 
securing the long-term future of Ebbsfleet Football Club. 

 3,000 new jobs for the local area and incubator spaces for start-ups 

 Green zones, including parklands, green spaces and children’s play areas with new 
pedestrian and cycle links. 

 New shops, restaurants bars and cafes covering a 225,000sg ft area. 

 A new retail village and 200-bed hotel. 

 3,500 new homes. 

An initial round of community engagement and consultation activity took place in July 2022, 
with a second round of activity in the autumn of 2022 in order to inform the Outline Planning 
Application for the project, targeted for late 2022. 

It is anticipated that works on site will commence in Autumn 2023.  The building will be in 
phases and will take approximately 6-7 years to complete in total. 

 

Commencement and Duration 

The Steering Group will commence its activities from January 2023.  The group will primarily 
support the project through the pre-construction phase of the scheme, subject to the 
necessary planning permission being obtained. 

The group may be reconstituted after this stage as is necessary to support the subsequent 
stages of the project.  

 

Appendix One 
Page 46



7 

Membership, Roles and responsibilities 

The Steering Group will comprise the following members, with the following responsibilities: 

 Two Councillor representatives from Gravesham Borough Council. 

 A Chair, appointed by the council’s Cabinet, chosen from the two Councillor 
representatives 

 Two representatives from the developer (Landmarque Property Group and/or Ebbsfleet 
United FC – development partners). 

 Associate members may be co-opted to the Steering Group during the project as 
necessary, such as representatives from Homes England, Environment Agency etc. 

 Officer representation from the council as is considered necessary to support the work of 
the Steering Group. 

 Any other representatives that are considered necessary for furtherance of the project 
and with the express permission of the council’s Cabinet. 

The representatives from Gravesham Borough Council will be responsible for ensuring that 
the Council is kept well-informed about the progress of the project to assist the decision-
making process and will assist the developer in bringing forward the development where it is 
appropriate to do so. 

The developer(s) will ensure that they provide regular updates on the project to the council in 
a transparent manner and clearly articulate any specific needs they have of the council in 
order to ensure the project is able to progress as necessary. 

Any co-opted members of the Steering Group will be invited to provide their relevant 
expertise for the furtherance of the project as necessary. This may include providing 
strategic oversight as well as assisting with additional funding bids for the project as 
required. 

 

Governance 

The Steering Group will have no executive powers delegated to it by the council and as 
such, will not be able to make decisions on behalf of the council.  A report to the council’s 
Cabinet (or other relevant, constituted committee as necessary) will be required for any 
formal decisions that need to be made. 

Meetings will take place at a frequency as is deemed necessary and/or requested by any 
member of the Steering Group, to be approved by the Chair, dependent on the relevant 
stage of the project.   

Minutes of the meetings will be maintained by a suitable officer from the council, providing 
appropriate secretarial support as necessary. 

Meetings must have at least one attendee from Gravesham Borough Council and one from 
the developer (Landmarque Property Group and/or Ebbsfleet United FC) to go ahead. 

The Steering Group may choose to convene specific working groups/sub-groups as 
necessary to support the project.  These groups will be bound by these Terms of reference 
and will also not have any decision-making powers. 

 

Page 47



8 

Finance 

No parties on the Steering Group will be required to make any financial contribution to the 
Steering Group.  Should there be a need for specific funding in the future, a report will be 
provided to the council’s Cabinet to approve payment, subject to an adequate business case 
being provided (should funding directly from the Council be required).   

All other parties are responsible for their own arrangements in terms of funding their 
activities associated with the Steering Group, or for providing financial contributions to the 
Steering Group as they see fit. 

It will be the responsibility of the developer to underwrite all of the costs associated with any 
Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) proceedings, should they be required. 

 

Confidentiality, Data Protection/GDPR and FOI 

All members of the Steering Group shall maintain confidentiality of all such confidential and 
commercially sensitive information provided.  Member shall not disclose any relevant 
confidential information to any third parties, unless written consent of the other members is 
provided, except for information that; 

(a) is or will be in the public domain or 

(b) is under the obligation to be disclosed pursuant to the applicable laws or regulations 

All parties shall comply with their obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998 and the 
Data Protection Act 2018 (the “Data Protection Acts”).   

All parties are subject to the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and shall provide all necessary assistance and 
cooperation as reasonably requested by the other party to enable a party to comply with its 
obligations and any requests for information without charge. 

 

Conduct 

The Steering Group as a whole must commit to supporting delivery of the objectives for the 
Northfleet Harbourside project.  All parties must adhere to their own individual organisation’s 
Codes of Conduct (or equivalent document).   

 

Changes to the Terms of Reference 

Changes to these terms of reference can only be made through mutual agreement of the 
members of the group and following ultimate approval by the council’s Cabinet. 

 

Dissolution of the Steering Group 

In the event that any party wishes to dissolve the Steering Group, this must be formally 
discussed and noted at a meeting of the Steering Group and a date for dissolution of the 
group proposed.  Following agreement by the group, a report will be taken to the Council’s 
Cabinet for ratification and implemented if approved. 

Page 48



9 

Upon dissolution of the group each party must discuss and agree if any intellectual property 
rights are to be retained or transferred between them. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

Classification:  Private 

Key Decision:  No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 3 January 2023 

Reporting officer: Wendy Lane – Assistant Director (Planning) 
 

Subject: Emerging Local Plan - Local Development Scheme 

Purpose and summary of report:  

 To provide Cabinet with an update on the emerging Local Plan Timetable now that the 
ongoing delays caused by the highways modelling, which are attributable to external 
organisations, are known. 

 To seek approval for publishing a revised Local Development Scheme. 
 

Recommendations: 

Cabinet members are asked to give the Assistant Director (Planning) in consultation with the 
Cabinet member for the Strategic Environment Portfolio delegated authority to publish a 
revised Local Development Scheme, in line with Appendix 2.  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
as amended, requires the Council as a Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) to prepare and maintain a LDS. The current LDS was 
brought into effect on 8 October 2019. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The Council maintains a Planning Policy Reserve for 
commissioning work related to the Local Plan, with separate 
revenue budgets covering day to day expenditure on staff. The 
Planning Policy Reserve and revenue budgets will need to be 
reviewed in light of the amended Local Development Scheme.   

Corporate Plan The emerging Local Plan feeds into Strategic Objectives 1,2, 3 
and 4 

Climate Change  There are no direct implications arising from the recommendations 
contained within this report. However, a key component of the 
emerging Local Plan includes addressing sustainability and 
climate change – with policies included to assist with this. 

 
 

Page 51 Agenda Item 8



 

2 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Council currently has an adopted Local Plan Core Strategy covering the 
whole borough (including the part of Ebbsfleet Development Corporation that falls 
within Gravesham). This was adopted by the Council in September 2014. Several 
policies of the Adopted Gravesham Local Plan First Review were saved following 
approval by the Secretary of State via a Direction issued 2007. Together with the 
Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map (adopted in September 2014), they form 
components of the Development Plan, for which Gravesham Borough Council has 
direct responsibility as part of our Plan Making role.  

1.2 Following the adoption of the Core Strategy officers turned their attention to 
reviewing the Local Plan Core Strategy, as well as progressing work on the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies Document. The latter 
document being the second part of the Council’s Local Plan, which would allocate 
additional sites for development, designates sites / land for specific uses and 
would set out the detailed Development Management policies. 

1.3 The Council’s project plan for bringing forward the emerging Local Plan is set out 
in the Council’s Local Development Scheme, with the most recent Local 
Development Scheme being adopted by Cabinet in October 2019. 

2. Local Development Scheme 

2.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) places a 
statutory duty on the Council to maintain an up-to-date Local Development 
Scheme. The current (October 2019) Local Development Scheme is attached to 
this report at Appendix 1.  

2.2 The Local Plan Core Strategy and Proposals Map need to be updated to reflect 
changing circumstances both locally and a result of changes to Government 
policy. With the remaining Saved Policies from the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review in need of being replaced in their entirety.  

2.3 Key dates from the currently adopted Local Development Scheme for the 
remaining tasks associated with the emerging Local Plan are set out in the table 
below.  

Stage October 2019 LDS 

Public Consultation Regulation 19 (statutory 6 
weeks) 

September-October 
2020 

Submission for independent examination 
(regulation 22) 

February 2021 

Examination July 2021 

Receipt of Inspector’s Report November 2021 

Full Council followed by adoption and publication December 2021 

 

2.4 Progress on the emerging Local Plan since the adoption of the Local 
Development Scheme (October 2019), was initially delayed as a result of Covid-
19, with the Regulation 18 Stage 2 consultation being undertaken October-
December 2020, rather than January-February 2020. Subsequent delays to the 

Page 52



 

3 

emerging Local Plan have been directly associated with delays to the availability 
of the Kent County Council Transport Model, and the time required to undertake 
highways modelling.  The Council can not move to the Regulation 19 (publication) 
stage without this modelling. 

2.5 Kent County Council’s Transport Model was originally anticipated to be available 
in Autumn 2020, however due to a number of reasons its completion took longer 
than originally envisaged, and therefore availability was pushed back to Spring 
2021, then Autumn 2021, to Spring 2022. 

2.6 The work needed to get results from the Kent Country Council transport model 
has also increased in scale and time. Additional traffic counts have had to be 
undertaken within the Borough, so that the model could be validated at a finer 
grain at the local level to meet National Highways (Department for Transport) 
requirements. As such what was anticipated to be a commission of 3-4 months, 
has turned into a commission lasting over 12 months.  

2.7 This is still caveated in Appendix 2, due to National Highways, as a result of the 
lack of capacity on the Strategic Road Network and due to Lower Thames 
Crossing, wanting to ensure that they review and agree to key stages of the work. 
As such the work will not proceed from one stage to the next, until National 
Highways have agreed the validated model, approach to forecasting highways 
impacts and the modelled results including mitigation measures. In terms of the 
latter, National Highways require the modelling to correlate with their own 
modelling and that undertaken for the Lower Thames Crossing.  

2.8 The Council is not privy to modelling data held by National Highways, and the 
Lower Thames Crossing data has only become available recently (31 October) as 
part of their Development Consent Order submission.  

2.9 Until officers receive initial outputs from the validated model runs, it is impossible 
to say with any certainty which development scenarios can be progressed. As 
such, upon completion of these model runs, officers will need to undertake further 
work on the review of the Local Plan Core Strategy and Site Allocations, prior to 
these documents being subjected to Sustainability Environmental Assessment 
(SEA), Sustainability Appraisal (SA), and Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA).  

2.10 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is a process that helps to understand 
how plans (including the choice of sites and policies) will affect the environment of 
the area that it covers. It is required by the SEA Directive, which places a legal 
duty on people preparing some development plans to assess those plans for their 
potential effect on the environment. A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) differs from 
SEA in that it considers not only the environmental effects of a plan, but the wider 
social and economic effects also. 

2.11 The Habitats Directive, separately requires development plan proposals to be 
assessed for environmental effects that could have an impact on certain sites for 
wildlife conservation that are identified and designated at the European level. 
These sites, known as ‘Natura 2000’ sites, include designations such as Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs) and Special Areas of Conservation (SACs). 

2.12 Both the SEA Directive and Habitats Directive, have been enshrined into UK Law. 

2.13 The proposed timetable for preparing the emerging Local Plan is set out in 
Appendix 2, with a comparison to the Local Development Scheme adopted in 
October 2019 set out in the table below. 

Page 53



 

4 

 

2.14 During this time, the Planning Policy team have been working on a number of 
work streams. This has included work on the underpinning evidence base; 
assisting colleagues in Development Management, including by providing policy 
comments on planning applications, and Regeneration; responding to 
consultations and undertaking duty to cooperate discussions. A number of posts 
have also been kept vacant. 

3. Proposed Next Steps 

3.1 Revised Local Development Scheme 

Subject to Cabinet’s approval, a revised Local Development Scheme based on 
the timetable set out in Appendix 2 be produced for adoption.   

 

4. Appendices 

4.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

- Appendix one – October 2019 Local Development Scheme 

- Appendix Two – Revised Local Plan Timetable 

5. Background Documents  

5.1 There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:   Shazad Ghani – Service Manager (Planning Services) 

Email:    Shazad.ghani@gravesham.gov.uk 

  

 
  

Stage October 
2019 LDS 

Proposed LDS 

Public Consultation Regulation 19 (statutory 
6 weeks) 

September-
October 2020 

September-
October 2023 

Submission for independent examination 
(regulation 22) 

February 
2021 

February 2024 

Examination July 2021 July 2024 

Receipt of Inspector’s Report November 
2021 

November 2024 

Full Council followed by adoption and 
publication 

December 
2021 

December 2024 

Page 54

mailto:Shazad.ghani@gravesham.gov.uk


 

5 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment If the Council does not prepare a Local Development Scheme, there is a risk that 
the Council will contravene the legal requirement to prepare, maintain and publish a 
Local Development Scheme for the Development Plan Documents it proposes to 
prepare. This would put Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review and the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD at risk of being found 
legally non-compliant when submitted Examination in due course. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A  

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

Yes It will by ensure that stakeholders and the public are aware of the key 
consultation stages, where they are able to contribute 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within this 
report. 

Digital and website 
implications 

Subject to Cabinet’s approval, the Council's website will be updated with the 
revised Local Development Scheme 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within this 
report. 

Page 55

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 

 

 

P
age 56



Gravesham Local Development Scheme (2019-2021)

Page 57



1 
 

Gravesham Local Development Scheme (2019 – 2021) 
Published October 2019 

 

Page 58



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

2 
 

Contents 

1  INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................ 4 

2 CHANGES TO THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME. ......................................... 4 

3 GRAVESHAM’S CURRENT PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK ........................... 4 

Gravesham Development Plan ...................................................................................... 4 

Evidence Base................................................................................................................. 5 

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment ............................... 5 

Policies Map .................................................................................................................... 5 

Neighbourhood Plans ..................................................................................................... 6 

Planning Guidance ......................................................................................................... 6 

Procedural Documents ................................................................................................... 7 

Statement of Community Involvement .......................................................................... 7 

Authority Monitoring Report and Housing Land Supply ............................................. 7 

4. PROPOSED LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENTS ............................................................... 7 

Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review ...................................................................... 8 

Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document ........................ 8 

Evidence Base................................................................................................................. 8 

Policies Map .................................................................................................................... 9 

5. SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENTS ..................................... 10 

6 TIMETABLE ............................................................................................................. 14 

7 SCHEDULE OF OTHER PLANNING POLICY DOCUMENTS ................................ 15 

Statement of Community Involvement ........................................................................ 15 

Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule .................................................. 15 

Supplementary Planning Documents ......................................................................... 15 

Other Documents .......................................................................................................... 15 

Page 59



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

3 
 

8 RISK ASSESSMENT AND MANAGEMENT............................................................ 16 

9 MONITORING AND REVIEW .................................................................................. 20 

10. GLOSSARY .............................................................................................................. 21 
 
 
  

Page 60



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

4 
 

1  Introduction 
1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) requires the Council to 

prepare, maintain and publish a Local Development Scheme (LDS).  The first Gravesham 
LDS was published in 2005 and has subsequently been updated a number of times, most 
recently in 2017.  This LDS supersedes the adopted July 2017 LDS and covers a 2 year 
period to December 2021.   

 
1.2 The LDS sets out the development plan documents the Council is preparing or intends to 

prepare, a programme for their production and an indication of the opportunities the local 
community and stakeholders have to participate in their preparation.  This LDS focusses 
on a partial review of the Local Plan Core Strategy, the preparation of the Site Allocations 
and Development Management Policies Document and an updated Policies Map.  The 
Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document will be the second 
document in the Gravesham Local Plan.   

 
1.3 This LDS recognises that there are a number of external factors which could influence the 

assumptions underpinning the evidence base for the Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Document, and consequently the timetable for its preparation.  
These include changes in national planning policy and significant external developments 
such as the London Resort Company Holdings’ resort at Swanscombe Peninsula, 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation and Lower Thames Crossing proposals.  An 
assessment of risks and contingencies is therefore included.  

 
1.4 Following legislative changes, there is no longer a requirement to specify the timetables 

for producing other planning policy documents such as Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs), the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The Council is aware that this is useful information for the 
public and section 7 includes further information on the other planning policy documents it 
is proposing to prepare/revise.   

2 Changes to the Local Development Scheme. 
2.1 The 2017 LDS is being reviewed to take account of a number of factors that have 

impacted on the proposed timetable for producing the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial 
Review and the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document.   

3 Gravesham’s current Planning Policy Framework  

Gravesham Development Plan  
3.1 Following the adoption of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, the Development 

Plan for Gravesham comprises: 
 

• Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014); 

• Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 (July 2016), and 

• Saved policies from the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (adopted November 
1994) 

• Draft South East Marine Plan (January 2019) 
 
3.2 The Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and Local Plan First Review saved policies are 

available on the Council’s website via the following links: 

Page 61



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

5 
 

 
• Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (11 MB) 
• Gravesham Local Plan First Review - Saved and Deleted Policies Version 

(September 2014)  
 
3.3 The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2013-2030) is available on Kent County 

Council’s website along with further information about supplementary documents: 
 

• Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan  
 

3.4 The draft South East Marine Plan (January 2019) is available on the Marine Planning 
section of the Government’s website along with supporting documents: 

 
• Draft South East Marine Plan 

Evidence Base  
3.5 The Local Plan Core Strategy was supported by a comprehensive evidence base.  This 

included studies prepared specifically for the Core Strategy, along with more generic 
information, and also responses received during various consultations prior to its 
adoption.  The Local Plan Core Strategy evidence base can be found in the Document 
Library via the following link: 

 
• Document library 

 
3.6 Evidence gathered since the adoption of the Local Plan Core Strategy is available on the 

Council’s Local Plan Consultation portal, via the following link: 
 

• Gravesham Local Plan Consultation Portal 

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment 
3.7 Achieving sustainable development is at the heart of the planning system. In preparing all 

local plan documents, attention will be given to the expected economic, social and 
environmental impacts of proposed policies and plans.   

 
3.8 All local plan documents are subject to Sustainability Appraisal (SA) which has to meet 

the requirements of the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive.  The 
SA/SEA process assesses how policies and proposals within local plan documents 
contribute to sustainable development, based on economic, social and environmental 
objectives.  It is a continuous evaluation process which is used to inform decision making 
and the SA/SEA forms part of the evidence base.  Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs) are not subject to SA/SEA as they provide additional information on planning 
policies already contained in a local plan document. 

 
3.9 Where plans may have a significant effect on sites of international importance for wildlife, 

they are also subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).  As Gravesham has 
areas that fall within a Ramsar site, a Special Protection Area (SPA) and a Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC) within its boundaries, HRA has and continues to form a 
fundamental part of the plan-making process. 

Policies Map 
3.10 The purpose of the Policies Map is to illustrate geographically the land use designations, 

policies and site allocations contained in the Gravesham Local Plan.  The adopted 

Page 62

http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/planning/Gravesham-Local-Plan-Core-Strategy-September-2014.pdf?_ga=1.105055687.590746805.1448633687
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/LPFR-1994/LPFR-Saved-and-Deleted-Policies-Version-Sept-2014.pdf?_ga=1.70122128.1018169922.1479296437
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/LPFR-1994/LPFR-Saved-and-Deleted-Policies-Version-Sept-2014.pdf?_ga=1.70122128.1018169922.1479296437
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/south-east-marine-plan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/96321/Updated-List-of-Examination-Documents.pdf
https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/consult.ti/system/listConsultations?type=all


Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

6 
 

Policies Map (September 2014) updates the Proposals Map that accompanied the 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review following the adoption of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy. It is available on the Council’s website via the following link: 
 
• Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map 

 
3.11 It should be noted that there have been changes to the Policies Map as a result of the 

Kent County Council’s adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan, and Gravesham 
Borough Council’s review of Conservation Area boundaries in the rural area.  Details of 
the amended rural conservation areas can be found at: 

 
• Conservation Area Boundaries 

Neighbourhood Plans 
3.12 The provisions in the Localism Act for neighbourhood planning came into force in April 

2012. They allow local parish or town councils or, where one does not exist, a community 
group to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan for their area. A Neighbourhood Plan has to be in 
general conformity with national policies and the strategic policies in the Local Plan.  
Timetables for the production of Neighbourhood Plans are produced specifically for each 
individual Neighbourhood Plan, and are determined by the body producing the Plan rather 
than Gravesham Borough Council.  A Neighbourhood Plan is subject to independent 
examination and a referendum.  Once adopted it forms part of the Development Plan and 
its policies are taken into account in development management decisions within the 
relevant area. 

 
3.13 There are currently no adopted Neighbourhood Plans and no Neighbourhood Plans are 

currently under preparation in Gravesham.   
 
3.14 The Council will work with designated neighbourhood planning groups during the 

production of the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review, the Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies Document and any future Local Plan Documents, and 
will take into consideration any relevant evidence and any emerging and adopted 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

Planning Guidance  
3.15 The Council has prepared a range of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / 

Documents (SPD).  While they are not part of the statutory development plan, they are 
considered as material considerations in the determination of planning applications and 
provide additional detail to policies set out in the Local Plan or national policy. 

 
3.16 Additional documents have been prepared by Kent County Council and are adopted by 

the Council as Supplementary Planning Guidance / Documents. 
 
3.17 A list of the current SPGs and SPDs is available on the Council’s website via the following 

link: 
 
• Supplementary planning guidance 

 
3.18 Within Gravesham, the eastern part of the Borough from Shorne southwards to Vigo 

village, lies within the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  The 
Kent Downs AONB Partnership, of which Gravesham is a member, has prepared a 
Management Plan for the AONB.  The Council has adopted this document to fulfil its 

Page 63

http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/planning/Gravesham-Local-Plan-Core-Strategy-Policies-Map-September-2014.pdf?_ga=1.83358486.1018169922.1479296437
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/supplementary-planning-guidance/supplementary-planning-guidance


Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

7 
 

statutory duty under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act. It is available on the Kent 
Downs AONB Unit’s website via the following link: 
 
• Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 

Procedural Documents  
3.19 The preparation and monitoring of local plan documents is supported by a number of 

procedural documents, as follows: 

Statement of Community Involvement  
3.20 Public participation is a key element in the preparation of the Local Plan and the Council 

are required to set out its policy for involving the local community and stakeholders in the 
preparation of the Local Plan and in the development management process.  The 
Council’s policy is currently set out in the Gravesham Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI).  This was adopted in March 2007 and can be viewed via the following 
link: 

 
• Statement of Community Involvement 

 
3.21 The Council is currently reviewing the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and a 

new Statement of Community Involvement will be published in late 2019. 
 

Authority Monitoring Report and Housing Land Supply 
3.22 The Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) is produced annually and published in December. 

It monitors the following: 
 

• Progress on plan preparation,  

• Duty to Co-operate activities in plan preparation  

• The implementation of the Local Plan Core Strategy policies  

• Progress on the delivery of development targets in the Local Plan Core Strategy  

• 5 year land supply monitoring report 
 
3.23 It will identify whether any management actions and/or contingency measures are 

required to address any changing circumstances that arise. 
 
3.24 The latest version of the Gravesham Authority Monitoring Report and 5 year land supply 

reports can be viewed via the following link: 
 

• Gravesham Monitoring and Housing Land Supply 

4. Proposed Local Plan Documents  
4.1 The Council’s priority is to deliver an up to date Local Plan for the Borough.  The Local 

Plan will comprise of two documents, the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy and the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies Document.  Following the adoption of 
the Local Plan Core Strategy in September 2014, this LDS provides a revised programme 
for undertaking a partial review of the Local Plan Core Strategy and preparing the Site 

Page 64

http://www.kentdowns.org.uk/guidance-management-and-advice/management-plan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/statement-of-community-involvement
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/monitoring-and-housing-land-supply


Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

8 
 

Allocations and Development Management Policies Document and an updated Policies 
Map. 

Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review 
4.2 Gravesham Borough Council commissioned a study to identify what the Borough’s 

revised objectively assessed housing need is going forward. This study, the Strategic 
Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (SHENA) identified that the Borough’s 
objectively assessed housing need had increased, since the adoption of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy. The Government’s standard method for calculating housing need, has 
reconfirmed this. Therefore a partial review of the Local Plan Core Strategy is needed to 
identify any consequential amendments to Core Strategy policies, including policy CS02 
(Scale and Distribution of Development). 

Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document 
 
4.3 The Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document will contain site 

allocations and detailed policies for guiding and managing development in the Borough.  
The document will be prepared in line with the strategic priorities and policies in the Local 
Plan Core Strategy, the requirements of the NPPF and planning practice guidance.  It will 
also take account of the Planning Inspector’s recommendations in his report on the Local 
Plan Core Strategy and will be informed by the evidence base (see paragraph 4.6 below).  

 
4.4 Once adopted, the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document 

will supersede the remaining saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review.  
Together with the Local Plan Core Strategy, it will form the new Local Plan for 
Gravesham.   

 

Evidence Base 
4.6 The evidence base is being updated and extended to inform work on the Site Allocations 

and Development Management Policies Local Plan and consequential amendments to 
Core Strategy policies.  The key pieces of technical work will comprise: 
• Strategic Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (SHENA).  This consists of: 

o Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
o Employment Land Needs Assessment 
o Retail and Commercial Leisure Assessment 
o Integrated Growth Needs Assessment 
o Affordable Housing and CIL Viability Testing Report 

• Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA) 

• Development Capacity Study 

• Green Belt  
o Green Belt Assessment 
o Green Belt: Broad Locations Assessment 
o Green Belt Stage 2 Study 

• Landscape Sensitivity and Capacity Study 

• Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study – this is made up of: 

Page 65



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

9 
 

o Indoor Sport Assessment and Strategy 
o Playing Pitch Assessment, Strategy and Action Plan 
o Open Space Assessment and Standards 

• Transport Study 
 

4.7 A Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment will also be produced to 
inform the production of the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review and the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Document. 

 
4.8 Based upon the results of the first round of consultation (Regulation 18 Stage 1), 

additional further technical work has been needed to inform the next consultation stage 
(Regulation 18 Stage 2).  

 
4.9 In parallel with additional technical work being undertaken, the Borough Council has and 

will continue to carry out Duty to Co-operate discussions with Planning Authorities within 
its Housing Market Area on major strategic issues, including housing land supply.  The 
Borough Council will need to demonstrate at Examination that it has fully explored a 
range of options for meeting its housing, retail and employment needs.  Failure to do so is 
likely to make the Plan fail the Duty to Co-operate test and be found unsound. 

Policies Map  
4.10 The Policies Map will be updated following the adoption of the Local Plan Core Strategy 

Partial Review and the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
Document. This will include site allocations and additional policy designations.  If 
amendments to the Green Belt boundary are required, such changes will also be shown.   

 
4.11 In addition to the Policies Map, the Site Allocations and Development Management 

Policies Document will include individual plans of allocated sites.  
  

Page 66



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

10 
 

5. Schedule of Proposed Local Plan Documents 

Document Title Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review 

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 

Policies Document 

Policies Map 

Document Details 

Role and Content The Local Plan Core Strategy 
sets out the vision, objectives, 
strategy and core policies for the 
spatial planning of the Borough 

Sets out the non-strategic land 
allocations and detailed policies 
for the consideration of planning 
applications 

Depicts the strategic and 
non-strategic site 
allocations and areas of 
land to which policies apply  

Geographical coverage Borough-wide Borough-wide Borough-wide 

Plan period 2011 – 2028 (Subject to review) 

Document Details 

Chain of Conformity National Planning Policy 
Framework, Planning Practice 
Guidance and Ministerial 
Statements 
 

National Planning Policy 
Framework 
Together with the Local Plan Core 
Strategy it will form the 
Gravesham Local Plan, replacing 
the saved policies in the 
Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review 

This will be prepared and 
updated to accompany the 
Site Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies Document. Once 
adopted, it will reflect the 
site allocations, policies and 
land use designations in the 
Core Strategy and the Site 
Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies Document  
 

P
age 67



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

11 
 

Document Title Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review 

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 

Policies Document 

Policies Map 

Timetable – Key Stages 

Evidence Gathering  
Key technical 
documents  

Completed: 

• Strategic Housing and 
Economic Needs 
Assessment (SHENA) 

• Affordable Housing and CIL 
Viability Testing Report 

• Green Belt Assessment 
and Broad Locations 
Assessment 

• Landscape Sensitivity and 
Capacity Study 

• Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation Study 

On-going: 

• Strategic Land Availability 
Assessment (SLAA) 

• Green Belt Review Stage 2 
• Development Capacity 

Study 
• Transport Study 
• Sustainability Appraisal/ 

Strategic Environmental 
Assessment 

• Habitats Regulations 
Assessment 

Completed: 

• Strategic Housing and 
Economic Needs 
Assessment (SHENA) 

• Affordable Housing and CIL 
Viability Testing Report 

• Green Belt Assessment and 
Broad Locations Assessment 

• Landscape Sensitivity and 
Capacity Study 

• Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation Study 

On-going: 

• Strategic Land Availability 
Assessment (SLAA) 

• Green Belt Review Stage 2 
• Development Capacity Study 
• Transport Study 
• Sustainability Appraisal/ 

Strategic Environmental 
Assessment 

• Habitats Regulations 
Assessment 

 

P
age 68



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

12 
 

Document Title Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review 

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 

Policies Document 

Policies Map 

Consultation on draft 
Document (including 
revised policy CS02), 
draft Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment (at stage 
2) 
(Regulation 18)* 

This is a 2 stage public 
consultation: 
 
Completed: 25 Apr 2018 to 11 
Jul 2018 
Stage 1 – Issues and Options 
Outputs from the SHENA; 
implications for Core Strategy 
policies including policy CS02, 
broad options for 
accommodating growth  
 
January 2020 
Stage 2 – Preferred Approach 
Revised Local Plan Core 
Strategy Policies.  

This is a 2 stage public 
consultation: 
 
Completed: 25 Apr 2018 to 11 
Jul 2018 
Stage 1 – Issues and Options 
Draft Development Management 
Policies  
 
 
 
 
January 2020 
Stage 2 – Preferred Approach 
Draft site allocations based on 
outputs from the SLAA, the Green 
Belt Assessment and results of 
Duty to Co-operate discussions.  
Also any proposed revisions to 
draft Development Management 
policies.  

 

Timetable – Key Stages 

Publication of the Pre-
submission Document, 
final Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment 

September 2020 September 2020  

P
age 69



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

13 
 

Document Title Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review 

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 

Policies Document 

Policies Map 

(Regulation 19 and 20)*  

Submission of the 
Document and 
Sustainability 
Assessment 
(Regulation 22 and 23)* 

Feb 2021 Feb 2021  

Pre-examination 
meeting 

May 2021 May 2021  

Hearing Sessions open July 2021 July 2021  

Inspector’s Report-Fact 
Check 

October 2021 October 2021  

Inspector Report-Final  
(Regulation 25)* 

November 2021 November 2021  

Anticipated Adoption of 
SA and DMP Document 
(Regulation 26)* 

December 2021 December 2021 December 2021 

 
* Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as amended 
 

P
age 70



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

14 
 

6 Timetable  

 

J F MA MJ J A S O N D J F MA MJ J A S O N D J F MA MJ J A S O N D J F MA MJ J A S O N D

Local Plan Core 
Strategy Partial 
Review

C C C E R A

Local Plan: Site 
Allocations and 
Development 
Management Policies 
DPD

C C C E R A

Policies Map A

Key 

Evidence gathering, analysis and plan development
Cabinet for review and decision C
Public Consultation  Stage 1 - Issues and Options (regulation 18)
Public Consultation  Stage 2 - Preferred Option  (regulation 18)
Public Consultation  Regulation 19 (statutory 6 weeks)
Submission  for  independent examination (regulation 22)
Note: Once the Documents have been submitted the examination and reporting timetable is set by the Inspectorate
Examination E
Receipt of Inspector’s Report R
Full Council followed by adoption and publication A

2021Document 2018 2019 2020

P
age 71



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

15 
 

7 Schedule of other Planning Policy Documents  
7.1 More information about the preparation / revision of the planning policy documents 

listed below will published on the relevant pages of the Council’s website as it 
becomes available. 

Statement of Community Involvement  
7.2 The current Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) was adopted in March 2007.  

Regulations have since changed the scope of SCIs and the processes they go 
through.  A new SCI is currently being prepared; this document will reflect changing 
regulations and circumstances and will be consulted upon in late 2019. 

Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule 
7.3 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allows local authorities to collect financial 

contributions from developers towards infrastructure that is needed as a result of new 
development in the Borough.  CIL is not intended to pay for all infrastructure needs.  
It is intended to fill the funding gap that remains once other sources of funding have 
been explored.  It is not a means of addressing infrastructure deficiencies or a means 
to pay for the specific infrastructure requirements of an individual development.  This 
will be done through Section 106 Agreements. 

 
7.5 The Council remains committed to ensuring that developers contribute as much as 

possible towards the infrastructure that is needed.  The Council is reviewing the 
evidence that has been gathered thus far and changes being made by Government 
to Planning Obligations before determining whether or not to proceed with CIL. 

Supplementary Planning Documents  
7.6 The Council refers to the need to produce a number of Supplementary Planning 

Documents (SPDs) in the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy and the draft Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies Document. As the Council’s 
priority is to deliver the Gravesham Local Plan, it is not proposed to progress these at 
the current time.  Any change in this position will be reported through the Authority 
Monitoring Report. 

Other Documents 
7.7 The Council has also to prepare and manage registers for Self and Custom Build, 

and Brownfield in accordance with appropriate regulations. 
 
 

Page 72



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

16 
 

 

8 Risk Assessment and Management 
8.1 The process of preparing the documents within the Local Plan involves managing various work streams alongside internal and external 

factors that may provide challenges to the work programme.  It is therefore important to identify these risks that could affect the work 
programme and consider how they may be minimised and mitigated. 

 
Risk Likelihood Impact Possible consequences and mitigation 

National policy 
changes  

High  Medium  There have been a number of significant changes in the Planning system from the Housing and 
Planning Act (2016), Neighbourhood Planning Act (2017), the publication of the Housing and 
Planning White Paper (February 2017), the National Planning Policy Framework (2018 and 
2019) and these are set to continue.  Consideration will need to be given to the impact of the 
changes that are actually made (as opposed to those consulted upon) when they occur.  This 
comes about through primary legislation as well as new or amended regulations.  Court 
judgements and Planning Inspectors reports can also impact planning via their interpretation of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Development Plan.   
  
The result of the General Election in June 2017 and the ramifications of the decision to leave 
the European Union could have significant implications for the Planning System in the future. 
 
Emerging legislation/policy will be monitored, and officers will work closely with the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) etc. 
and others as required.  Local Plan documents will be based on the best information available 
at the time of preparation.  
 

Impact of major 
development 
projects 

Medium High Major development projects and their associated transport infrastructure are a major cause of 
the external uncertainty over which the Council will have an input, but little influence on precise 
timetables.   
 
Depending on decisions made by others there may significant implications for the preparation 
of the Local Plan which will need to be managed as and when circumstances dictate.  Major 
projects include: 

P
age 73



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

17 
 

Risk Likelihood Impact Possible consequences and mitigation 
 

• Lower Thames Crossing  
 

• London Resort Company Holdings (LRCH)  
 

• Ebbsfleet Garden City  
 

Changes in local 
political 
control/leadership  

Medium  Medium  Ultimately Council policy is set by elected Members. This, quite properly, makes the Local Plan 
programme susceptible to change arising through political intervention. 
  
Officers will work closely with the Leader and Portfolio Holder, and other members through 
existing groups, to understand and manage any policy changes required.  
 

Staffing and 
resources  

Medium  High  The programme has been matched to the currently available staff and other resources. 
 
Government spending cuts will continue, placing more pressure on Council resources. The 
Council has robust plans in place to ensure that statutory services are maintained but the need 
to make additional budget savings within the Council are an on-going risk.  
 
Any significant change due to prolonged absence over and above normal levels arising from 
natural turnover could have an impact on the programme.  
 
The Council is taking a pragmatic approach to technical work to ensure it is resource efficient 
and effective and sometimes external consultants may be used. As a last resort, document 
preparation timetables may be adjusted.  
 

Resourcing of 
external agencies  

High  Medium  Spending cuts may also impact on Government agencies/bodies, including PINS and statutory 
consultees. If these organisations have insufficient resources, delays to document production 
timetables may result.  
 
Officers will work closely with external agencies to understand possible risks as early as 
possible and maintain positive working relationships. Officers will keep PINS informed about 
any timetable alterations  

P
age 74



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

18 
 

Risk Likelihood Impact Possible consequences and mitigation 
 

Legal challenge  Low High  External parties may seek to legally challenge all or part of Local Plan documents.  
 
Officers will seek to ensure that all local plan documents are legally compliant and sound, and 
will work closely with the Legal section and PINs to ensure that requirements are met. 
 
External legal advice may also be sought. 
 

High levels of 
public interest / 
high volume of 
consultation 
responses  

High  Medium  These risks place pressures on staff and other resources due to the need to respond to 
enquiries and process and consider representations.  
 
Officers will work closely with the Council’s Communications Team when issues that are likely 
to generate a high level of interest are consulted upon.  
 
While an online consultation system is in place, experience has shown to date that the majority 
of local people prefer to respond by email or letter.  Depending on the sensitivity of the issues 
raised through consultations, additional time may need to be programmed in should the number 
of representations received be above expected levels.  This will allow time for representations 
to be fully considered and entered into the consultation system. 
  

Evidence base 
becomes dated  

Medium  Medium  External factors may lead to the Council’s evidence base becoming out of date.  
 
Additional delays to document preparation timetables as a result of other risk factors may also 
result in evidence documents becoming out of date.  
 
Officers will monitor changes and prepare or commission updated evidence studies where 
necessary.  
 

Joint working with 
neighbouring 
authorities  

Medium  High  Joint working with neighbouring authorities is a statutory requirement of the Localism Act 2011 
(the Duty to Cooperate). This covers preparation of evidence base as well as policy 
considerations and covers topic areas that have wider implications than the Local Planning 
Authority area.  Agreement on strategic matters, such as housing provision, across a number of 
Authorities is being encouraged, as well as consideration of joint Plans where appropriate.  

P
age 75



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

19 
 

Risk Likelihood Impact Possible consequences and mitigation 
Memoranda of agreement will be discussed with appropriate partners as to how this will 
operate, including technical evidence and Member involvement. 
 
Different local authorities are at different stages in the plan making process, which means that 
joint working is not always straightforward.  
 
Officers will continue to work closely with neighbouring authorities and it is intended that the 
relationships between authorities at Member and officer level is formalised by a Memorandum 
of Agreement. 
 

P
age 76



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

20 
 

9 Monitoring and Review 
9.1 The Council produces an Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) annually.  Among other 

things, this monitors progress in preparing the Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Document against the key milestones set out in the LDS.  The 
AMR will identify whether the milestones have been met.  If they have not been met, 
it will set out the reasons for this and any proposed action as a result of these delays.  
It will also highlight whether there have been any changes in circumstances that may 
warrant amending the LDS. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 77



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

21 
 

10. Glossary 

Word or Term Explanation 
AMR Authority Monitoring Report An annual report that assesses progress of Local Plan 

preparation against the published Local Development 
Scheme (LDS), as well demonstrating that the Duty to 
Co-operate is being met in the preparation of the local 
plan documents and progress on the implementation of 
policies in the Local Plan Core Strategy.   
 

CIL Community Infrastructure 
Levy 

A levy allowing local authorities to raise funds from 
owners or developers of land undertaking new building 
projects in their area. 
 

DCO Development Consent 
Order 

Application to Planning Inspectorate, for ultimate 
decision by the Secretary of State, for permission to 
carry out a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project. 
 

EDC Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation 

Responsible for development control decisions and 
taking projects forward in the Ebbsfleet and part of 
Northfleet Embankment 
 

GBC Gravesham Borough 
Council 

The local planning authority responsible for producing 
Gravesham’s Local Plan 
 

HRA  Habitats Regulations 
Assessment  
 

An assessment of the impacts of policies and proposals 
on sites of international importance for wildlife, i.e. 
Ramsar Sites, Special Protection Areas, Special Areas 
of Conservation. 
 

 Local Plan Documents Local Plan Documents are the main elements of the 
Local Plan comprising the Core Strategy, Site Specific 
Development Allocations, and the Policies Map. These 
documents are subject to strict preparation and 
consultation rules, a sustainability appraisal and 
independent examination. 
 

LDD Local Development 
Document 

Comprises any document prepared as part of a Local 
Plan.  It includes Development Plan Documents and 
other documents which do not have Development Plan 
status, such as Supplementary Planning Documents, 
the Statement of Community Involvement, and 
Community Infrastructure Levy.  
 

LDS Local Development 
Scheme 

A public statement identifying which local development 
documents will be produced, in what order and when. 
 

NPPF National Planning Policy 
Framework 

Government advice on how the Planning System should 
operate 
 

NSIP National Strategic 
Infrastructure Project 

Major projects that meet the criteria set out in sections 
15-30 of the 2008 Planning Act (as amended) 
 

Page 78



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

22 
 

Word or Term Explanation 
 Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 
 

The legislative basis for the current Development Plan 
system and introduced sustainable development as a 
core objective of the planning system. 
 

PINS Planning Inspector Responsible for conducting the independent 
examinations on Development Plan Documents.  The 
Inspector’s report is binding on local planning 
authorities.   
 

 Ramsar An internationally important wildlife site under the 
“Convention on Wetlands of International Importance 
especially as Waterfowl Habitat” 
 

SA & 
DM 

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies DPD  

This will contain non-strategic site allocations and 
detailed policies for guiding and managing development 
in the Borough. 
 

SAC Special Area of 
Conservation 

An internationally important wildlife site. These are 
areas given special protection under the European 
Union’s Habitat Directive, which is transposed into UK 
law by the Habitats and Conservation of Species 
Regulations, 2010 
 

 Saved Policies Policies from the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
which are “saved” for the transition period until they are 
replaced by new Local Plan policies. 
 

SPA Special Protection Area An internationally important wildlife site. These are 
areas which have been identified as being of 
international importance for the breeding, feeding, 
wintering or the migration of rare and vulnerable species 
of birds found within the European Union countries. 
They are European designated sites, classified under 
the Birds Directive. 
 

SCI Statement of Community 
Involvement 

This sets out how the local planning authority will 
engage with all stakeholders in the preparation and 
production of the Local Plan. 
 

SPD Supplementary Planning 
Documents 

Documents which add further detail to the policies of the 
Local Plan. They can be used to provide further 
guidance for development on specific sites, or on 
particular issues, such as design. They are capable of 
being a material consideration in planning decisions but 
are not part of the development plan 
 

SPG Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Documents which are similar to SPD’s and were 
prepared under the previous planning system.  They 
elaborate on saved policies in the Local Plan. They 
have been subject to public consultation, and are a 
material consideration in determining planning 
applications.  

Page 79



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019 
 

23 
 

Word or Term Explanation 
SA Sustainability Appraisal  Assessment of the Environmental, economic and social 

impact of policies, to ensure that all policies and 
proposals reflect sustainable development principles. 
 

SEA Strategic Environmental 
Assessment 

A procedure set out in the Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes Regulations, 2004, which 
requires the formal environmental assessment of certain 
plans and programmes which are likely to have 
significant effects on the environment 

Page 80



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 Revised Local Plan Timetable

J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D
Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review C C C C E R A
Local Plan: Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Document C C C C E R A
Policies Map

Original Transport Modelling Start Date and 
estimated completion
Revised Transport Modelling Start Date and 
estimated completion
2nd Revised Transport Modelling Start Date and 
estimated completion
Current Transport Modelling Start Date and 
Completion

HIGHWAYS MODELLING NOTE: The data is currently being validated and the model updated. This 
estimated to be completed by end of Nov 2022. This will then require the model and future approach 
to forecasting to be approved by National Highways. The consultants are proposing that this will be 
done swiftly to enable modelling runs to be undertaken in January 2023, with a lead up of data input 

in Dec 2022.  However, this element of the work may encounter delays. Upon completion of the 
initial modelling, National Highways will again need to sense check the outputs against modelling 

they have for the Strategic Road Network. Should the outputs be at variance, National Highways will 
require further work to be undertaken. Which again will add to the delays. 

SA/SEA and HRA (inc Equalities Duty) NOTE: The highways model will inform what sites can be 
progressed and the wording of policies. In combination all of this work will have to be subjected to an 

SA/SEA and HRA which is a legal requirement. This will require our consultants to undertake an 
SA/SEA + HRA of the draft Regulation 19 documents and to suggest amendments. To enable this to 

occur time is needed after the completion of the transport work. It may be possible to truncate this 
period subject to outcomes of the SA/SEA process. Explanation of what SA/SEA is 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal and 
for HRA https://www.gov.uk/guidance/habitats-regulations-assessments-protecting-a-european-site

20242018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

ote  O ce t e ocu e ts a e bee  sub tted t e 
examination and reporting timetable is set by the 
Inspectorate 

Public Consultation Stage 2 - Preferred Option 
(regulation 18) 
Public Consultation Regulation 19 (statutory 6 
weeks) 
Submission for independent examination (regulation 
22) 

Full Council followed by adoption and publication A 

Cabinet for review and decision C 
Public Consultation Stage 1 - Issues and Options 
(regulation 18) 

Evidence gathering, analysis and plan development 

Examination E 

Receipt of Inspector’s Report R 

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

Climate Change Advisory Board 
 

Wednesday, 12 October 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr John Burden (Chair) 
 
Councillors: Harold Craske 

Sarah Gow 
Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Diane Morton 
 

Sarah Parfitt 
Wendy Lane 

Director (Corporate Services) 
Assistant Director (Planning) 

Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Operations) 
Darren Everden 
Saida Shaikh 
Nicole Arthur 
Joshua Arthur 

Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) 
Climate Action Delivery Manager 
Service Manager (Housing Operations) 
Project Surveyor (Housing Operations) 

James Young 
Keith Grimley 

Parks & Open Spaces Manager 
Senior Economic Development Officer 

Jackie Denton Customer Services Manager (Minutes) 
 
 

15. Apologies for absence  
 
No apologies for absence received. 
 

16. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10 May 2022 were signed by the Chair. 
 

17. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

18. Climate Change Delivery Plan and preparations for Annual Reporting  
 
The Climate Action Delivery Manager presented members with the Climate Change Delivery 
Plan for consideration and set out preparation for the council’s third Annual Report. 
 
Officers from across the services reported on their related areas. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85 Agenda Item 9



Climate Change Advisory Board 12.10.2022 

2 

Priority 1: GBC – The organisation 
 
Educate all council Members and officers on Climate Change 
 

 43 staff completed the Carbon Literacy training, 22 of those have made pledges and 

been certified and a number of staff have made pledges but await confirmation that 

they are good enough to be certified. A few people haven’t yet made pledges. 

 To become a Carbon Literate Organisation we have to meet certain criteria for 

achieving Bronze, Silver and Gold. At the moment we can go for the Bronze level. 

The next stage is Silver where 15% of our staff must be accredited so 75 staff. We 

have trained 43 and certified 22 so to get to 75 will take us longer but we can go for 

Bronze and work towards Silver over the coming months. 

The Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) and the Climate Action Delivery Manager 
responded to questions regarding the training as follows: 
 

 You have to make two pledges, one in your professional life and the impact you can 

make in your working environment and the other is an impact on your private life. 

They are checked by the Carbon Literacy Project to ensure they are suitably robust. 

 In terms of what the output of that is, it’s about raising the awareness of how our 

actions affect the carbon emissions of the authority so we undertake our business 

with that in mind and understanding the implications of our decisions. 

 An example of a professional pledge would be looking at the area of work you are 

involved in and an action that could be changed in your service or what you could do 

to further promote carbon literacy with your colleagues as champion in your area. It 

could be direct action or advocacy. 

 In terms of personal pledges, it isn’t just saying I am just going to go over to a Green 

Energy Tariff, it must be more robust than that, something which will have a more 

significant impact. 

 In terms of accreditation, we have already met the criteria for Bronze. Each 

accreditation level has different costs, Bronze is £1500 and Silver is £2500 so if the 

organisation upgrades within 3 years then it deducts the amount from the previous 

level and the difference has to be paid, £2500-£1500 so £1000 has to be paid for 

Silver instead of the full price of £2500. We will take a report to Management Team in 

due course. 

 In terms of how long it will take to train the additional 32 staff and get them 

accredited, I would say it would hopefully be within six months to a year. 

 All Kent Districts are doing the training. 

 Because the pledges are personal to the individual they aren’t shared so it is very 

difficult to give a list of examples of what other people have submitted. The Director 

(Corporate Services) advised that in her role it was about being an advocate and 

pushing climate change in our decision making. We now have a section on the 

Management Team template which must be completed for all reports. Her personal 

pledges include looking at alternative methods of transport, changing her diet and 

planting a wildflower meadow. Ultimately it is about making a conscious change in 

the way you act and behave and interact with people around you. We are trying to 

Page 86



Climate Change Advisory Board 12.10.2022 

3 

promote it more within our local communities going forward. We have some activity 

around community engagement and are producing a programme of activities in a 

proactive role. We are leading by example. 

 Cllr Gow advised that she had done the training herself and felt it was very robust 

and it isn’t easy and the work to do the pledge involves a lot of work. It really has the 

potential to educate councillors and officers. It looks at what you can change in your 

life to make an impact. Her personal pledge is to reduce the red meat in her diet.  

 The training will be rolled out to Members in the next administration. 

Progress plans to replace the existing Civic Centre, The Woodville, Cascades Leisure 
Centre and Cygnet Leisure Centre by 2026 with new energy-efficient buildings 
 

 New carbon-efficient Civic Centre and Theatre – Awaiting outcome of a Levelling Up 

Fund bid for £20m. 

 New leisure centre on Cascades site – Looking to achieve the principal of 

Passivhaus  

Develop and implement a programme of targeted carbon reduction projects focusing 
on energy source 
 

 Brookvale Depot – Mapping operational needs to inform the preferred option for the 

site. A site survey has been completed to look at whether we go down the retrofit 

route or to put an alternative on the site. There are questions around the fleet and 

any infrastructure, it isn’t purely about the building but how that site will operate going 

forward. In the process of submitting the next phase of the scheme. 

Seek to secure an alternative energy supply through procurement of renewable 
energy when the current supply contract ends in 2024. 
 

 In discussions with LASER on what their provision will become October 2024 but 

also talking to other providers to see what is on the market so we can move to a truly 

renewable energy supply. Although they are often branded renewable that is not 

always the case. 

 The contract we currently have does include a fixed element. One thing we can do as 

a Board is look at our consumption and energy lighting and the public sector 

decarbonisation scheme will likely assist to further that work. 

Design and implement a fleet replacement programme intended to deliver 
decarbonisation of the fleet by 2030 focusing on small and medium size petrol and 
diesel vehicles from 2022. 
 

 We have 10 EV vans and orders placed for 8 electric vehicles to be used within 

Housing, Cemeteries and Street Cleansing. 

 New 10-year vehicle replacement plan is being finalised to meet Net Zero ambitions. 

Trialling electric dustcarts at the moment but they are expensive, can only go 45mph 

and aren’t good with hills. It comes in one standard specification so depends how the 

service runs. 

Page 87



Climate Change Advisory Board 12.10.2022 

4 

 Continuing to use routeing software to ensure fleet minimise journey times. Looking 

at bin sensors to ensure jobs are carried out when required. 

Develop a Sustainable Travel Policy to reduce the level and impact of business travel 
 

 A number of cycling schemes for employees are being evaluated and an offer to be 

made to staff when the relevant supplier has been chosen. Cyclopark are also able to 

provide staff with cycling confidence training  

 Employer Travel Club – encouraging people to utilise public transport and offer staff 

savings on Arriva. We need to go far wider than buses and cycling by understanding 

what our staff need to take that behaviour change. We need to promote the Club 

more but also look at the package on the whole to take those decisions and make a 

change. 

 It is a good example of how we need to encourage people to use buses and that 

needs to be taken up with the Transport Board. 

Priority 2: GBC – the housing provider 
 
Implement a GBC resident engagement strategy around Climate Change. Work with 
partners to promote Climate Change and adjust behaviours 
 

 Strategy now implemented. Working closely with the Energy Savings Trust to publish 

information to our residents on how they can save energy and we are currently 

working on an Energy Advice leaflet for residents. It is currently being finalised and 

will then be published. We have also been working with the Tenant Advisory Service 

on how we can improve the way we liaise with our residents and increase the 

awareness of climate change and the retrofit work we need to do as a council. 

 We have been doing a lot of work with the Private Housing Team on how they can be 

encouraged to follow suit. There has been a lot of interest from private landlords and 

the Private Housing Team about how we can share information we are giving our 

own tenants to theirs and we are using opportunities to promote what we are doing to 

private landlords through events we have been speaking at such as at London 

Climate Action Week. 

Ensure all investment decisions regarding the council’s housing stock are made with 
consideration to the impact of Climate Change. Reducing carbon emissions and 
improving the energy rating of the housing stock 
 

 The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund scheme has seen 175 properties 

surveyed and 100 receiving insulation since June. 

 Currently working on a second bid of Wave 22 of the social housing fund and we are 

looking to increase the amount of measures to include double glazed windows, cavity 

wall insulation, loft insulation and heat pumps. 

 The council was successful in its funding bid to deliver the whole house retrofit 

scheme, Energiesprong, to 10 non-traditional constructed homes. 

 Independent Living Scheme, Merston Court and 54-62 Hermitage Road, Higham – 

The installation of the council’s first Ground Source Heat Pump heating system has 

Page 88



Climate Change Advisory Board 12.10.2022 

5 

now been successfully completed and we are starting to receive positive feedback 

from residents and this will be monitored over the next few months to see how it 

performs. Hermitage Road is expected to see a saving of 24 tonnes of carbon over 

20 years and Merston Court 13.67 tonnes. 

Ensure all projects deliver new council-owned housing target of net zero standards 
and include provision for electric vehicle charging 
 

 St Columbas – 46 unit redevelopment scheme is likely to be the first new build to 

have ground source heat pumps. The scheme will meet the new Part L and O 

Building Regulations and Part S. 

Explore alternative energy solutions for communal areas and council housing tenants 
 

 In terms of the energy tariff on renewable energy, we are not sure what they can 

supply is completely green. There is more interest in solar panels on some of our 

blocks. 

 Recently completed the installation of the Solar PV at Carl Ekman House which has 

generated 3.97 MWh and £2,064.40 of electric. 

Develop and deliver a programme of investment in EV charging points in existing 
housing estates 
 

 The installation of EV charging at Carl Ekman House and Bishops Court has now 

been completed which will provide two charge points at each site for residents and 

the council’s fleet. 

Work with council tenants to promote a better understanding of the benefits of 
alternatively-powered vehicles and active travel options 
 

 When we first did the Action Plan the information we wanted to advertise was about 

Climate Change, net zero, reducing their footprint but the work we have put in on 

training our energy champions and putting literature together has proved really 

helpful and through surveys we have had positive feedback. 

Reduce the amount of waste generated by the service and tenants that is sent to 
landfill with the intention to increase recycling rates 
 

 A lot of this doesn’t start until the next financial year. We have reviewed what goes 

on on our estates and making it as easy as possible to recycle and a programme of 

improvement works will be created. We are hoping to recycle on a larger scale and 

have linked in with charities. 

 Opportunities to “green” the council’s property estate – Horticulture are working with 

Planning and Property and Landscape Designers to look at potential schemes. 

 

 

Page 89



Climate Change Advisory Board 12.10.2022 

6 

Implement an overarching communications strategy to articulate how the council will 
seek to engage with residents, businesses, partners and communities to encourage 
and support Climate Change and develop a targeted programme within schools 
 

 Engaging with local schools to promote awareness 

 Key is continued publicity and social media 

 Autumn Your Borough focuses on climate change activity and how tenants can be 

part of that journey. We are now starting to look at how we can programme activity 

 Still working through the process of establishing an action group  

Working with other agencies 
 

 Waiting for government guidance on whether we can incorporate glass into the 

current recycling arrangements 

 Improve relationships with supermarkets 

The Climate Change Advisory Board noted the Climate Change Delivery Plan and support 
the approach regarding the preparation of this year’s Climate Change Annual Report. 
 

19. Biodiversity and tree planting improvements within the Borough of 
 Gravesham  
 
The Service Manager (Housing Operations) and the Parks and Open Space Manager 
provided an update on work regarding biodiversity and tree planting in the borough and 
outlined the plans for the next 12 months. 
 

 It is a significant piece of work but work has started and will be completed by the end 

of this financial year. 

 Towards the end of 2021/22 there were 3,174 trees planted in a number of locations, 

146 were standards and heavy standards and the remainder whips that were planted 

as natural boundaries and as part of memorial and rewilding areas. 

 Wildflowers were introduced at 12 locations within the borough and we had more 

success at some sites than others due to the hot summer but it’s hoped there will be 

growth in those areas next year. 

 The report outlines positive steps by us in taking a different approach to the lake at 

the Prom to encourage a natural habitat to increase wildlife.  

 The bee garden at Windmill Hill has expanded to include flower beds. 

 There has been 20 bat, bird and owl boxes installed in various locations in the 

borough to promote habitat for wildlife and whilst it will take many years we are 

confident they are in the right location. 

Future plans 
 

 The council is making every effort to enhance open spaces but also defining the 

urban space for people to enjoy tranquillity as well as space for light physical 

exercise for animals and owners. There is a need to improve the aesthetics for social 

benefits as well as an opportunity for biodiversity. This will be done by developing an 

Page 90



Climate Change Advisory Board 12.10.2022 

7 

identity for each of the parks and open spaces in the borough 

(Heritage/Biodiversity/Leisure).  

 The council are also now part of the newly formed Kent and Medway Plan Tree 

Partnership Steering Group and Delivery Group to review the overall tree strategy to 

increase coverage in Gravesham by 8% by 2030.  

 Continuing to increase planting heavy standard trees across the borough. In the 

process or ordering 150 heavy standard trees which bring a faster sequestering of 

carbon and habitat of wildlife. 

 To assist the overall efforts for tree planting we will work with DEFRA approved 

charities such as MORE: Trees and Trees for Cities and KCC programmes like 

‘Trees outside Woodlands’ to soften landscape by planting natural hedgerows. 

 As well as planting new trees it is essential to look after what we have and so we will 

be using recycled woodchip as mulch to contain moisture. 

 With the help of Lower Thames Crossing (LTC) funding and North Kent Countryside 

Partnership we are proposing to plant ferns, heathers, lowland shrubs and trees to 

encourage and protect wildlife. 

 Moving into the second phase of the Gordon Lake with the continued development of 

the surrounding of the lake by planting suitable water reed and vegetation to 

encourage birdlife and offer protection from the elements. This will include the 

development of a more sustainable water filtration system, energy-efficient water 

aeration system and floating island water beds that will offer controlled colour, habitat 

for wildlife and remove harmful metals and nutrients from the water. This will remove 

the need for the current system which has an electric bill of over £6k. 

 The council were successful in a bid from LTC to work with ecologists and KCC 

specialists on a chalk grassland feature at the Warren. There will be a trial of 

wildflower seed mixes. 

 Litter is very evident at the lake on the Prom but the team now have waders so the 

lake can be cleaned. 

Members felt that very few people in the borough know how much work we are doing so 
it’s important to do more publicity of what we are doing and why. We don’t want to be 
slowed down by other organisations, we need to get on and do what we are doing by 
2030. There is a lot to celebrate and we need to do that loud and clear. 
 
The Chair congratulated Nicole Arthur on the work she has been doing to plant the boats 
in the borough. 

 
The Climate Change Advisory Board noted the contents of the report. 

 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 9.30 pm 
 
 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 
 

Thursday, 27 October 2022   7.30 pm 
 
 

Present: 
 
Cllr Baljit Hayre (Chair) 
 
Councillors: Derek Ashenden  

Helen Ashenden  
Ejaz Aslam  
Gurjit Bains   
John Caller  
Dakota Dibben  
Aaron Elliott  
Brian Francis  
Lyn Milner  
Leslie Pearton  
Tony Pritchard  
Tony Rana  
Steve Thompson   
 

Please note:          Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox was in attendance.  
 
Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities) 
Kath Donald  
Will Lay  
James Beautridge  

Strategic Manager (CSU)   
Chief Inspector, Kent Police  
Inspector, Kent Police 

Ben Clarke  Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 
 
  

40. Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Jordan Meade, Cllr Frank Wardle and Cllr 
Sangha (Vice-Chair); Cllr Tony Pritchard, Cllr Gurjit Bains and Cllr Thompson acted as their 
respective substitutes.   
 

41. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 27 October 2022  were agreed and signed by 
the Chair. 
 

42. Declarations of Interest  
 
Cllr Leslie Pearton declared an interest as his daughter was a prison office at Warren Wood.  
 

43. Knife Crime and Serious Youth Violence Topic Review  
 
The Committee were provided with the final recommendations of the Knife Crime and 
Serious Youth Violence Topic Review that were previously reported to the Committee.  

Page 93 Agenda Item 10



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2022 

2 

 
Members were asked to note and comment upon the recommendations of the Topic Review 
Group and offer any further suggestions that could be submitted to the next Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership meeting in January 2023.  
 
Cllr Tony Rana, as Chair of the Review Group, guided members through the report and 
explained that the Topic Review concluded that there were several key tasks that should be 
taken on board and progressed via Gravesham’s CSP namely: 
 

 That partners needed to ensure that knife crime and serious youth violence statistics 
are not provided/shared in isolation but alongside supporting contextual information 
to give a more accurate picture of the level and nature of these crimes. This is 
particularly important when statistics/data are being made available in the public 
domain 

 

 That the CSP review and agree the best means to communicate information on crime 
issues with local people, to keep them informed of the ‘real’ level of violent crime in 
the Borough i.e., that compared to many areas (including some other Kent Districts), 
crime in Gravesham is not high and the Borough is a safe place in which to live and 
work. This will help to build confidence, maintain perspective and challenge poor 
perceptions that may be held 

 

 That efforts be made to raise awareness of the wide range of youth activities that are 
available to young people across the Borough, most of which are free of charge, and 
how to access them so that more young people will be encouraged to take part 

 

 To understand and promote the beneficial role of Neighbourhood Watch in local 
communities, review the current number of active Schemes, identify areas in which 
Schemes could be introduced and to explore opportunities to support the expansion 
of Neighbourhood Watch Schemes more broadly within Gravesham. 

 
The Committee raised concerns that that there was a general fear of reporting crimes by 
residents in the Borough which meant that a large number of crimes weren’t being reported 
to the Police. Members asked that the wording in the report be amended from ‘actual crime’ 
to ‘reported crime’.  
 
In response to a Member's question concerning sentences for carrying knives, the Inspector, 
Kent Police advised that carrying a knife was a serious offence and currently, certain groups 
were lobbying for mandatory prison sentences for anyone caught carrying a knife. There 
were two types of charges that could be made; flick knifes/butterfly knives etc were classified 
as a bladed article and items such a screwdriver could be classed as an offensive weapon.  
 
The Inspector, Kent Police further explained that the joint operation with British Transport 
Police and the knife arches placed at the train station were preventative work; they sent out 
a message to the public that people carrying knives weren’t wanted in Gravesham and they 
would be targeted by Police. The Inspector, Kent Police acknowledged that the knife arches 
could contribute to the raising of public fears about the level of knife crime  but described 
them as essential for keeping knife crime from spilling out of areas such as London. The 
Inspector, Kent Police described a recent example of a young lad that was caught with a 
knife as a result of the joint operation and they felt they need to carry a knife to protect 
themselves..  
 

Page 94



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2022 

3 

The Committee thanked the officers and the Police for their hard work in completing the 
review.  
 
Members noted the recommendations of the Topic Review Group and agreed for them to be 
submitted next Gravesham Community Safety Partnership meeting in January 2023 
 
 

44. Town Centre Topic Review  
 
The Committee were provided with the findings and recommendations of the Town Centre 
Crime Topic Review.  
 
Members were asked to consider and comment upon the findings of the Topic Review 
Group and on the recommendations to be submitted to the next Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership meeting in January 2023 as detailed in the report. 
 
Cllr John Caller guided Members through the report and directed their attention to 2.4 of the 
report which held the suggestions for addressing the issues identified in the Town.  
 
Cllr Caller advised that having considered experiences and discussed possible suggestions 
for addressing the issues identified, the Topic Review Group agreed the following final 
recommendations: 
 

 That there should be a concerted campaign aimed at changing public 
perceptions of Gravesend through accurate and positive reporting of the 
‘real’ levels of crime so that fear of crime and negative impressions of risks 
to personal safety can be minimised 
 

 Working in partnership is essential to continue achieving further reductions 
in crime (and ASB) - this includes not just statutory services and businesses 
but local residents too. Underlining the message of the need to report 
incidents is crucial to ensuring that partnership activity and any additional 
resources are properly targeted 
 

 There needs to be more effective communication of ‘good news’ about what 
the town centre has to offer, ongoing improvements and planned activities, 
to encourage a greater footfall both in the daytime and the evenings, so that 
Gravesend builds a reputation of as a safe socialising environment 
 

 Greater awareness of the range of existing activities that are available for 
young people to access needs to be achieved to encourage take-up 
together with more consultation with young people about what they feel they 
would like to see made available to them 
 

 Subject to resources, a series of community events should be held to 
promote Gravesham as a whole 
 

 The displaying of messages about expected standards of behaviour e.g., 
‘Anti-Social Behaviour will not be tolerated’ to be promoted 
 

 Consideration should be given to the creation of a separate website 

Page 95



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2022 

4 

dedicated to celebrating good news about the Borough e.g., Amazing 
Gravesham, to supplement the Council’s website which is primarily focused 
on services and the Discover Gravesham website which concentrates on 
information for visitors and tourists. 

 
The Assistant Director (Communities) directed Members attention to 2.4.2 of the report 
which held suggestions that were raised outside of the meeting but would still be 
incorporated into the recommendations if necessary.  
 
The Committee thanked the officers for their hard work in completing the review.  
 
Members noted the recommendations of the Topic Review Group and agreed for them to be 
submitted next Gravesham Community Safety Partnership meeting in January 2023 
 

45. Policing Update  
 
The Committee were given an oral update on Police work in the Borough by Inspector 
James Beautridge from Kent Police.  
 
The Inspector, Kent Police advised that recent statistics had shown that crime had fallen in 
the Borough; the biggest of which was cases of anti-social behaviour which had fallen 38% 
across Gravesham.  
 
The Inspector, Kent Police further outlined the following key points:  
  

 Additional resources had been allocated due to the football World Cup being held in 
November/December 2022; highly visible Police would be walking around the Town 
Centre and pubs in the Borough would be covered by roving Police patrols. The 
Safer Spaces scheme had been promoted and early visits had already been 
conducted to licenced premises  

 Police Officer numbers in the Town Centre would be boosted at Christmas to combat 
any spike in retail thefts; a number of offenders were due to be released from prison 
soon and uniformed officers would be welcoming them back to the Borough with 
visits to their homes  

 The Community Safety Shop would be set up in the St George’s Centre in December 
2022 and would be staffed by council officers and Kent Police  

 Kent Police attended a recent PACT meeting with Cllr Milner in the Riverside wards 
as well as a walk and talk event in Lawrence Square with Housing Officers which 
proved successful. Those events were held monthly in different areas  

 The Inspector, Kent Police promoted the ‘My Community Voice’ website and asked 
that Members sign up to it as it was an excellent way of getting in touch with Kent 
Police and reporting issues  

 Crime had decreased at the Promenade since it became more heavily policed with 
uniformed and plain clothed patrols at work there. Robberies had decreased since 
the summer as all three criminals who had conducted the robberies were in prison. 
There was still some low level ASB and drug dealing in the area  

 Recent funding received from the Home Office meant that there would be more 
uniformed patrols in hot spot areas  

 Weapon offences had risen but that was a good thing as it meant that the Police 
were searching the right people and getting the weapons and the offenders off the 
streets  

Page 96



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2022 

5 

In response to a Member’s question about unreported crime the Inspector, Kent Police 
advised that they were only able to go by the statistics for reported crime; the statistics 
showed that overall crime was dropping in the Borough, but it did not take into account 
cases of unreported crime. The Inspector, Kent Police agreed to share the crime statistics 
for Gravesham with Members outside of the meeting  
 
In response to further questions from Members, the Chief Inspector and Inspector for Kent 
Police explained that:   
 

 Kent Police drew on other intelligence for example, officers worked with hospitals to 
monitor any patient admissions that suffered knife injuries but hadn’t reported 
anything; that data would be compared with Police held data to ensure that nothing 
had been missed. Data was also gathered from neighbouring districts to see if 
Gravesham’s reported crime was lower than theirs, but Members were advised that 
Gravesham was statistically the one of the safest districts in North Kent  

 Kent Police held the highest crime recording accuracy in the Country  

 When a victim informed the Police that a crime had happened multiple times in the 
past then each time would be catalogued as an individual offence; there were 
stringent Home Office rules in place to record those offences  

 Kent Police were very active during Hate Crime Awareness Week; the Independent 
Police Advisory Group met and discussed hate crime awareness at length, and it was 
also discussed at multi faith forums with external partners. There was a lot of internal 
awareness and training conducted within the Police force with regards to hate crime 
awareness  

 Kent Police had a dedicated County Lines task force who communicated regularly 
with other forces such as the Metropolitan Police and Essex regarding County Lines 
behaviour and the sharing of tactics. There were dedicated resources at different 
Policing levels and County Lines gangs were a county wide issue however they had 
been reduced in Gravesham in recent years. Joint operations were conducted with 
the British Transport Police (BTP) to make intervention points such as Gravesend 
Train Station. The Inspector, Kent Police reassured Members that they spoke with a 
lot of different Police authorities across the Country and a significant amount of 
research was undertaken for their warrants  

 There was an ongoing investigation into the shops in the Town Centre that were 
selling illegal tobacco products and the Inspector, Kent Police assured Members that 
they were disrupting the illegal sales but couldn’t say more as it was an ongoing 
investigation  

 Public visibility of uniformed officers greatly helped to reduce anti-social behaviour 
especially around places like McDonald’s; officers had a great relationship with staff 
at McDonald’s and they utilised the GSAFE system. The Inspector, Kent Police 
advised that the upcoming Halloween weekend had additional resources assigned to 
it; the whole of the Town Centre Team and Police officers were on lates and would 
cover all of the Town Centre. Special Constables purely targeting anti-social 
behaviour would also be on patrol. Warning letters had been circulated to repeat 
offenders and children who were known troublemakers had been visited at their 
houses and warned in front of their parents  

 The weekend after, fireworks weekend, would follow the same protocol as Halloween 
weekend  

 Kent Police visited most shops that sold fireworks to warn them of not selling to 
underage teenagers and gave them posters with warnings to put up in their 

Page 97



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2022 

6 

premises. Officers has also asked them not to sell large volumes of eggs or flour to 
any young people due to the risk of them using them for anti-social purposes  

 Officers also attended schools and gave talks about various issues  

 The Inspector, Kent Police encouraged any Members that wanted to join the patrols 
at the Halloween weekend to contact himself and something could be arranged  

 The Inspector, Kent Police apologised to Cllr Elliott as he had not been informed of 
the movement of the PCSOs in Riverview; a review of Neighbourhood Polici across 
Kent had been recently conducted but the results were not available yet. The 
Inspector, Kent Police assured Cllr Elliot that the PCSO list would be updated next 
week and properly communicated to all parties  

 With regard to an ongoing investigation in Riverview concerning motorbikes in 
residential areas, the Chief Inspector, Kent Police advised that he couldn’t comment 
on an ongoing investigation but assured Members that the Inspector’s team had 
dedicated a lot of time to dealing with motorbike anti-social behaviour. The Chief 
Inspector, Kent Police advised that he was happy to discuss the matter further with 
Cllr Elliott outside of the meeting   

 
The Strategic Manager (CSU) added that during Hate Crime Awareness Week, the Council 
worked with the Community Liaison Officers from Kent Police, the Gr@nd and other external 
partners and joined in a lot of community engagement activity. The Council provided a lot of 
merchandise and literature in the Town Centre to encourage the public to report all incidents 
of hate crime. Unfortunately, the Council’s Community Safety Unit did not engage in the 
week as they didn’t have the staff capacity this year. The seasonal CSP shop would be open 
though and information was available to the public to ensure they reported any hate crime 
during the World Cup.  
 
With regard to reported crime statistics, the Strategic Manager (CSU) advised that she 
reviewed the crime statistics in the last twelve months and compared them to the twelve 
month statistics pre-pandemic and it showed that total crime had fallen. During the pandemic 
crime rates drastically reduced nationally, and as expected, crime levels started to return to 
normal in the last 12 months. The majority of Kent Districts and Medway were seeing crime 
levels return to their previous rates at a far quicker rate than Gravesham with the Kent 
average increase being higher than Gravesham’s.  
 
In response to a Member’s question about the rise in domestic abuse over the pandemic, the 
Strategic Manager (CSU) advised that:  
 

 There was an increase in reported cases during the pandemic 

 The most recent data on domestic abuse cases revealed that there had been an 
increase in reporting of domestic abuse cases compared to the previous twelve 
months.  Members were advised that this rise could also be in part due to the 
significant local campaigning that has been undertaken to encourage victims to 
come forward and report their domestic abuse.  

 On average, most victims didn’t come forward until they had been abused thirty times 
so an increased reporting rate meant that more victims were receiving help 

 The Council are signed up to the White Ribbon campaign and has previously been 
the recipient of three years of Home Office funding to raise awareness of all the 
different types of domestic abuse including male against female, female against 
male, inter family and even some types of modern slavery which fell within the 
definition of domestic abuse.  The three-year project had delivered considerable 

Page 98



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2022 

7 

partnership work to tackle domestic abuse and violence against women and girls, 
which again may have encouraged victims locally to come forward. 

 Gravesham is the only district in Kent that has a dedicated multi-agency Modern 
Slavery Working Group as an operational group of the CSP.  The local approach is 
being replicated in other parts of Kent as a good practice model. 

 A one stop shop for domestic abuse victims was being held on Thursday mornings 
where the public were able to drop in and seek out advice or assistance; the shop 
had proved very successful so far  

 Members were invited to attend the domestic abuse conference on 15 November 
2022; the conference has been advertised on social media and Communications 
had worked hard to promote the domestic abuse services available  

 Cllr Harding had previously raised concerns for victims of domestic abuse who were 
hard of hearing and needed additional support to escape their abuse; the team 
raised that with the Domestic Abuse Partnership Board. As a result, some training 
sessions being rolled out in October and November included sign language 
interpreters  

 Unfortunately, the team did not keep track of the outcomes of cases or prosecutions, 
but the Strategic Manager (CSU) was sure the information could be accessed and 
circulated to Members if requested. Members were reminded that the most important 
part was that victims had access to the support services available and were actively 
using the services  

 
The Chair thanked the officers for an information update.  
 

46. Safer Streets Round 4 Project  
 
The Strategic Manager (CSU) advised that a detailed written report would be brought to the 
next meeting in January 2023.  
 
The Strategic Manager (CSU) gave a verbal update to the Committee on the main headlines 
of the Safer Street Round 4 Project:  
 

 The team worked with a colleague at the Police Crime Commissioners (PCC) office 
to work on a bid for Home Office funding; the bid was successful and approximately 
£62K was granted. That was matched by the Council’s own funds. By January 2023 
the project should have had more time to develop  

 The project included eight new permanent CCTV cameras for the Town Centre.  

 The Council were looking at upgrading seventy heritage streetlamps, thirty-seven of 
which would be funded by the Home Office funding. Planning permission for the 
lamps was sought and the design had been approved; the work just had to be 
programmed into the schedule   

 The footpath from the Overcliffe to the Thamesway/industrial park area had been left 
unmaintained for years; the vegetation would be cut back, the fly tipping cleared, 
lighting improved, and two cameras covering the entry and exit points installed as 
part of the project  

 The team worked closely with the GSAFE radio system; the Council wanted to 
encourage more businesses to sign up to the scheme but some of the businesses 
had been hit hard over the pandemic and couldn’t afford to join. To combat that, the 
project included funds to purchase twenty new radios to give to willing businesses on 
a free six-month trial. Part of the fund would also be spent to fix the recent issue with 

Page 99



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2022 

8 

radio link where the signal between security staff and Police had been negatively 
affected  

 Included within the bid was a target of twenty ‘safe spaces’ within business premises 
in the Town Centre; anyone who felt vulnerable could go to one of those ‘safe 
spaces’ and request the need to use it to staff who would all be trained to deal with 
any issues. Bystander training would also be given to Council staff and night-time 
business staff too  

 A conference social event was held every year and held discussions around 
domestic abuse, harassment, stalking, modern slavery and alcohol abuse etc; the 
event encourages people of all diversities to join in and an event is planned for March  

 Two night time economy audits were planned to be completed; the first audit was 
completed in October 2022 and the second was due to be completed in September 
2023. Council officers and a few Members went out in the Town Centre between 
17:00pm and the early hours of the next morning on a Friday night in order to see 
what the Town Centre was like during those hours. A survey was carried out with 
public and business representatives and further information would be gathered at the 
next night time audit in 2023  

 
A number of suggestions were raised by the Committee:  
 

 The programme used for installing the heritage streetlamps should also include a 
programme of planned maintenance instead of just reacting when a streetlamp 
stopped working  

 The Chair of Licensing Committee needed to be contacted prior to the next night time 
audit so that he was able to attend  

 The previous dial in number for the CCTV control room should be reinstated as that 
would allow businesses that didn’t want to be part of the GSAFE system to still be 
able to contact the CCTV room and advise them of times and places when criminal 
activity had occurred  

 
The Strategic Manager (CSU) agreed to the first two suggestions however the Assistant 
Director (Communities) advised that the old number was likely a by-product of when the 
CCTV control was based in Gravesend, but it had since relocated. However, the Assistant 
Director (Communities) agreed to raise the matter with GSAFE.  
 
The Chair thanked the Strategic Manager (CSU) for the detailed update.  
 

47. Minutes of the latest published Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel  
 
The Committee were presented with the minutes of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime 
Panel meeting held on Thursday, 16 June 2022. 
 
The Committee noted the minutes.  
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 20:37pm.  
 
 
 

Page 100



1 

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 
 

Wednesday, 30 November 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 

Present: 
 
  
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Brian Francis 

Nirmal Khabra 
Jordan Meade (KCC) 
Alan Ridgers (KCC) 
Lauren Sullivan (KCC) 
Bryan Sweetland (KCC) 
 
 

Nick May Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager  
Kevin Gore  Dartford & Gravesham District Manager (KCC)  
Jenny Lumley Whitehill Primary School (Business Manager) 
Angela Carpenter Whitehill Primary School (Headteacher) 
Ben Clarke  Committee Services Officer  
Karen Gingles Committee Services Officer (minutes) 
 
  
 

28. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from County Councillor Conrad Broadley (Chair), 
Councillors Aaron Elliot and Leslie Hills.   
 

29. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Board held on Wednesday, 31 August 2022 were signed 
by the Chair. 
 

30. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest members should state what their 
interest is.  
 
Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared an interest as he was a local taxi driver in the Borough of 
Gravesham.  
 

31. Matters Arising from Previous Meetings  
 
Members were presented with an update on actions that were requested or promised at the 
previous Gravesham JTB meeting.   Kevin Gore (Dartford & Gravesham District Manager for 
KCC) referred to the previous issue raised by Cllr Hills, which referred to the road works on 
Lower Higham Road in Chalk.  The board were advised that the works had now been 

Page 101 Agenda Item 11



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 30.11.2022 

2 

completed, however there would be footway maintenance due to start soon, but this was not 
thought to cause too much disruption.   
 
The Dartford & Gravesham District Manager (KCC) informed Members that: 
 

 The Gas Board had completed their road works on Lower Higham Road in Chalk and 
Thong Lane; there were some minor gas works being conducted in the new year but 
those shouldn’t cause any disruption  

 The issue relating to speeding on Springhead Road had been resolved 

 Reference was also made to the Springhead Parkway rumble strips that had been 
raised previously by County Councillor Conrad Broadley. The Dartford & Gravesham 
District Manager (KCC) had invited the developer to the site and was waiting for a 
date to be scheduled; the board was assured that the rumble strips would be 
removed by March 2023    

 
The Chair thanked The Dartford & Gravesham District Manager (KCC) for the actions taken.  

 
 

32. Reports from Officers  
 

32.1 Highways Forward Works Programme: 2022/23 and 2023/24  
 
The Board was presented with a report that updated them on the identified schemes 
approved for construction within Gravesham. The Dartford & Gravesham District Manager 
(KCC) advised this paper was for information only. 
 
The board noted the report. 
 

33. Issues raised by Councillors with the approval of the Chair  
 
The Chair allowed Members to raise various issues which would be submitted to KCC for 
actioning.    
 
Cllr Rana raised an issue on Whitehill Road.  He informed the board that he had visited 
Whitehill Primary School and met with the Headteacher Angela Carpenter and Business 
Manager Jenny Lumley to discuss the traffic issues surrounding the school.  He advised that 
there were several dangerous pinch points around the Whitehill Road and Sun Lane areas, 
plus by the main school entrance in Sun Lane, there was a blind spot which was dangerous 
and would benefit from a zebra crossing.  There was also a lot of traffic congestion along 
School Road as it headed towards Jellicoe Avenue. 
 
Cllr Rana introduced Jenny Lumley (Whitehill Primary School Business Manager), to the 
Board who spoke regarding the issues the school had experienced with traffic surrounding 
the school.  She made the following points: 
 

 The school were experiencing severe issues with the traffic especially in Sun Lane, 
where the school’s main entrance was located.  The road was very narrow and the 
school drive headed straight onto Sun Lane.   

 There were zig zag and yellow lines but these were mostly ignored.  

 Along this road footpaths were also narrow with some parents having to walk in the 
road at times.   

Page 102



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 30.11.2022 

3 

 There was also a bottle neck point in the road, where Sun Lane met Smarts Road.   

 The refuse collection truck on Mondays plus the bus route along Sun Lane, added to 
the congestion. 

 The school was very large with 620 children and was one of the only schools in the 
area that did not have a safe road crossing. Children were rarely able to walk 
unaccompanied to school and it was not possible for children to use bikes or 
scooters to get to school, as it was not safe to do so. 

 There was an increasing amount of intolerance, aggression and violence witnessed 
outside school due to the traffic congestion issues. 
 

Cllr Rana informed the board that he had also met with Iona Radalski from Kent Safer 
Streets who was going to liaise with KCC to see what could be done and would suggest a 
zebra crossing in Sun Lane and propose methods to slow traffic is School Lane around 
school drop off/pick up times.  Cllr Rana acknowledged this would require funding, so would 
need the support of both Cllr Meade and Cllr Ridgers. It was also suggested that railings be 
put in place to widen School Lane and offer protection for the children.  Both Cllr Ridgers 
and Cllr Meade were in support of this suggestion, subject to costs. 
 
County Councillor Bryan Sweetland advised the board that the maximum grant that could be 
given was £10 000.  The cost of the works could be in between £10-15K and may exceed 
this, depending on whether lighting/power were also required.  He advised the board that 
there was a KCC leaflet which outlined what the grant included, that he would share outside 
the meeting.    
 
Cllr Jordan Meade addressed Jenny Lumley, stating that he would like to arrange a visit to 
the school to see the issues for himself.  He referred the school to a useful website 
www.responsibleparking.co.uk where resources such as posters, and mock parking tickets 
could be printed. He advised that this site worked well for Timberwood School who had 
experienced similar issues. He suggested that this could also be something the children 
could get involved with. 
 
The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager offered the board and school 
information, on how GBC could assist with the issues.  He suggested the following: 
 

 Road markings fell under the remit of Gravesham Borough Council, so if any zig zag 
or yellow lines needed to be refreshed this could be arranged to make them clearer 
to parents.   

 He would speak with Gravesham’s Waste Management team to see if it was possible 
for the refuse trucks to avoid school drop off/pick up times on a Monday. 

 He would ensure parking enforcement officers were as visible as possible but pointed 
out that due to the number of schools verses enforcement officers, they could not be 
present all the time. 

 If parents parked on footpaths or junctions this would be a police matter.  
Engagement with Kent Police to work together and provide a joint presence, had 
been sought, but due to police resources this was not possible 

 If the school felt there were areas outside school, that would benefit from further 
restrictions this could be discussed outside the meeting. 

 
The Dartford & Gravesham District Manager KCC addressed the board regarding the 
suggestion of installing barriers along School Road.  He advised this may prove difficult due 
to fibre optic cables being in place along the road. Jenny Lumley suggested that maybe 

Page 103

http://www.responsibleparking.co.uk/


Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 30.11.2022 

4 

bollards could be a suitable alternative, as these would stop cars from mounting the kerb 
and potentially harming the children.  The Dartford & Gravesham District Manager KCC 
confirmed that as this would only be a small cost, he would be happy to fund the bollards 
from his own budget. 
 
Jenny Lumley thanked the board for their assistance on this matter. 
 

34. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  
 
The Chair enquired about the new bus station and the cameras that monitored access 
through the bus gates. He queried if access was for buses only or whether taxis were also 
permitted.  Nick May (Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager) advised the 
board that access through the gates was currently for buses only.  KCC have made this 
decision but have stated that they will review this once the bus gate enforcement is in place 
and they have had the chance to review usage and effectiveness of the cameras.  He also 
informed the board that documentation regarding the bus gates could be viewed within the 
agenda pack from the previous meeting (31 August 2022).  
 
The Dartford & Gravesham District Manager KCC advised the Chair that he could send him 
the report if he was unable to access the previous agenda.  
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8:03pm 
 
 

Page 104


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Review of the LATCo Governance Framework
	7 Formation of the Northfleet Harbourside Steering Group
	8 Emerging Local Plan - Local Development Scheme
	Appendix 1 Gravesham_Local_Development_Scheme
	1  Introduction
	2 Changes to the Local Development Scheme.
	3 Gravesham’s current Planning Policy Framework
	Gravesham Development Plan
	Evidence Base
	Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment
	Policies Map
	Neighbourhood Plans
	Planning Guidance
	Procedural Documents
	Statement of Community Involvement
	Authority Monitoring Report and Housing Land Supply

	4. Proposed Local Plan Documents
	Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review
	Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document
	Evidence Base
	Policies Map

	5. Schedule of Proposed Local Plan Documents
	6 Timetable
	7 Schedule of other Planning Policy Documents
	Statement of Community Involvement
	Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule
	Supplementary Planning Documents
	Other Documents

	8 Risk Assessment and Management
	9 Monitoring and Review
	10. Glossary

	Appendix 2 Revised Local Plan Timetable
	Sheet1


	9 Minutes of the meeting of the Climate Change Advisory Board held on Wednesday, 12 October 2022
	10 Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday, 27 October 2022
	11 Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on Wednesday, 30 November 2022

